
 

 

 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 

 
10.00 AM - DYDD MAWRTH, 15 CHWEFROR 2022 

 
O BELL DRWY TEAMS 

 

 
RHAID GOSOD POB FFÔN SYMUDOL AR Y MODD DISTAW AR 

GYFER PARHAD Y CYFARFOD 
 
 Rhan 1 

 
1.  Croeso a galw’r rhestr   

 
2.  Datganiadau o fuddiannau   

 
3.  Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol  (Tudalennau 5 - 6) 

 
4.  Gwneud cais am ymweliad(au) safle gan y ceisiadau a gyflwynwyd   

 
 Adroddiad/au gan Bennaeth Cynllunio a Diogelu'r Cyhoedd 
 Adran A - Materion i'w Penderfynu 
 Ceisiadau Cynllunio wedi'u hargymell ar gyfer Cymeradwyaeth 
 
5.  Cais Rhif P2019/5560 - Tir gerllaw The Towers Hotel, Jersey 

Marine  (Tudalennau 7 - 56) 
Caniatâd cynllunio amlinellol ar gyfer datblygu unedau diwydiannol 
ysgafn a swyddfeydd (Dosbarth defnydd B1,B2 a B8) ynghyd ag 
isadeiledd cysylltiedig ar dir gerllaw The Towers Hotel, Ashleigh 
Terrace, Jersey Marine 
 

6.  Cais Rhif P2021/1206 - Glannant Place, Cwmgwrach  (Tudalennau 
57 - 70) 
Annedd deulawr ar wahân gyda lle parcio a gwaith cysylltiedig yn 
Llain 1, Glannant Place, Cwmgwrach. 
 

  

AGENDA 



Adran B - Materion Er Gwybodaeth 
 

7.  Penderfyniadau Dirprwyedig - 17 Ionawr i 6 Chwefror 2022  
(Tudalennau 71 - 78) 
 

8.  Eitemau brys   
Unrhyw eitemau brys yn ol disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag 
Adran 100B (4) (b) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972. 
 

 
K.Jones 

Prif Weithredwr 
 

Canolfan Ddinesig 
Port Talbot Dydd Mercher, 9 Chwefror 2022 
 
 



 
 
Aelodaeth Pwyllgor:  
 
Cadeirydd: S.Paddison 

 
Is-Gadeirydd: 
 

S.Pursey 
 

Aelodau: 
 

Councillors D.Keogh, R.Mizen, S.Bamsey, 
R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, A.Wingrave, A.N.Woolcock, 
C.Williams, S.Renkes, M.Protheroe a/ac 
C.James 
 

Aelod Cabinet: Councillor A.Wingrave 
 
Gwneud cais i siarad yng nghyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio 
 
Mae gan y cyhoedd hawl i fynd i'r cyfarfod ac annerch y pwyllgor yn unol â 
gweithdrefn gytunedig y cyngor sydd ar gael yn www.npt.gov.uk/planning.   
 
Os hoffech siarad yn y Pwyllgor Cynllunio ynghylch cais yr adroddwyd 
amdano i'r pwyllgor hwn, mae'n rhaid i chi: 
 

       Gysylltu â'r Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn ysgrifenedig, naill ai 
drwy'r post yn: Y Ganolfan Ddinesig, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ, neu'n 
ddelfrydol drwy e-bostio: democratic.services@npt.gov.uk. 

       Sicrhau eich bod yn gwneud eich cais i siarad ddau ddiwrnod gwaith 
cyn dyddiad y cyfarfod fan bellaf (erbyn 2pm ar y dydd Gwener 
blaenorol os yw'r cyfarfod ar ddydd Mawrth).  

       Nodi’n glir rif yr eitem neu'r cais rydych am siarad amdani/o a 
chadarnhewch a ydych yn cefnogi'r cais neu’n ei wrthwynebu. 

       Rhoi eich enw a'ch cyfeiriad (a fydd ar gael i'r cyhoedd oni bai fod 
rhesymau penodol dros gyfrinachedd). 

 
Sylwer, dim ond un person sy’n gallu siarad ar ran pob 'categori' ar gyfer 
pob cais h.y. y gwrthwynebydd, y cefnogwr, yr ymgeisydd/asiant, y 
Cyngor Cymuned/Tref. Ceir manylion llawn yng ngweithdrefn gytunedig y 
cyngor. 
 
Yn ogystal, os yw gwrthwynebydd yn dymuno siarad, hysbysir yr 
ymgeisydd/asiant gan y cyngor. 
 

http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning
mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk


Os ydych yn dymuno trafod unrhyw agwedd ar siarad cyhoeddus, 
ffoniwch dîm y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ar 01639 763313. 

Cyflwyno sylwadau ar geisiadau cynllunio yr adroddir amdanynt i'r 
pwyllgor 

Os ydych yn dymuno cyflwyno sylwadau ar gais a gyflwynir i'r Pwyllgor 
Cynllunio hwn, sylwer bod rhaid i'r Adran Gynllunio dderbyn y rhain erbyn 
2.00pm ar y dydd Gwener cyn cyfarfod y pwyllgor fan bellaf (yn seiliedig 
ar y cyfarfod dydd Mawrth arferol). Os nad yw'r cyfarfod ar ddydd Mawrth, 
dylid eu derbyn erbyn 2.00pm ar y diwrnod gwaith olaf ond un cyn y 
Pwyllgor Cynllunio fan bellaf.  

Caiff sylwadau a dderbynnir yn unol â phrotocol y cyngor eu crynhoi a, lle 
y bo'n briodol, gwneir sylwadau arnynt ar ffurf Taflen Ddiwygio, a 
ddosberthir i aelodau'r Pwyllgor Cynllunio drwy e-bost ar y noson cyn 
cyfarfod y pwyllgor, a'i chyflwyno ar ffurf copi caled yn y cyfarfod. 

 
 
 



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

(REMOTELY VIA TEAMS) 
 

Members Present:  25 January 2022 
 
 
Chairperson: Councillor S.Paddison 

 
Vice Chairperson: Councillor S.Pursey 

 
Councillors: D.Keogh, R.Mizen, S.Bamsey, R.Davies, 

A.N.Woolcock, C.Williams, S.Renkes, 
M.Protheroe and C.James 
 

Local Member: Councillor C.Edwards (Blaengwrach) 
 

Officers In 
Attendance: 
 

C.Morris, M.Shaw, J.Griffiths, N.Lake, K.Powell, 
G.White and T.Davies 
 

 

 
1. WELCOME AND ROLL CALL  

 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and roll call was taken. 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the previous meeting held 

on 14 December 2021, be approved. 
 
 

4. TO REQUEST SITE VISIT(S) FROM THE APPLICATIONS 
PRESENTED  
 
RESOLVED: That no site visits be held on the applications 

before committee today. 

Tudalen5

Eitem yr Agenda3



 

250122 

5. APPLICATION NO. P2021/0400 - LAND AT REAR OF HEOL 
NEDD, CWMGWRACH, NEATH  
 
Officers made a presentation to the Planning Committee on this 
Application (1 Number detached dwelling and detached garage and 
creation of vehicular access at land at rear of Heol Nedd, 
Cwmgwrach, Neath), as detailed in the circulated report. 
 
The Local Member was present to speak in favour of the application, 
along with the applicants’ agent. 
 
RESOLVED: That in accordance with Officers’ 

recommendations, Application No. P2021/0400 
be REFUSED for the reasons contained within 
the circulated report. 
 
 

6. DELEGATED DECISIONS - 6 DECEMBER 2021 TO 17 JANUARY 
2022  
 
Members noted the list of Delegated Decisions from 6 December 
2021 to 17 January 2022. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 

7. URGENT ITEMS  
 
None were received. 

 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRPERSON 

Tudalen6



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 

 

Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2019/5560 DATE: 06/11/2019 

PROPOSAL: Outline planning permission for the development of light 

industrial and office units (Use Class B1, B2, & B8) plus 

associated infrastructure 

LOCATION: Land Adjacent to Towers Hotel, Ashleigh Terrace, Jersey 

Marine 

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs N Zapettis 

TYPE: Outline 

WARD: Coedffranc West 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

This application is brought before the Planning Committee as a material departure 

from the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

SITE AND CONTEXT 

 

The application site measures approximately 2.38 hectares. The hotel development 

of 'The Towers Hotel' is located immediately to the east of the site with the site and 

access passing along the northern boundary of the hotel site. An existing freight train 

line and small cutting runs along the whole southern boundary of the site with natural 

boundary trees and vegetation along the whole length. Beyond this lies the Ffordd 

Amazon link road with NCN4 cycle path and local bus route. The Amazon warehouse 

and distribution centre between Ffordd Amazon and Fabian Way to the south. To the 

north of the site is the raised former railway embankment, with mature trees and 

planting. Immediately to the north of the raised embankment is the Swansea to Neath 

Tenant Canal with canal footpath, which forms part of the Wales Coast Path, which 

links Swansea in the west to Jersey Marine to the east. 

 

The site is generally level across its whole area and consists mainly of scrub 

vegetation. There are no existing buildings on site albeit there are two full size 

electricity pylons located on or adjoining the application site with the lines running 

generally east-west across the site. 

 

There is an existing gated access off the adopted highway (B4290) which provides 

access to Swansea and the M4. The main body of the site is located within an Existing 

Employment Area (EC2/1 – Fabian Way) which seeks to provide B1 B2 and B8 uses. 

A small section of the site and the access in not within this allocation, which is clarified 

Tudalen7

Eitem yr Agenda5



further within this report. As such, the proposal has been advertised as a departure 

to the Local Development Plan. Below is a plan showing the location of the site. 

 

Figure 1: Location of Proposed Development 

 
 

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 

 

The application seeks outline planning permission for the development of light 

industrial and office units (Use Class B1, B2 & B8) plus associated infrastructure. All 

matters relating to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved 

for subsequent approval. 

 

As this is an outline application, detailed plans have not been submitted in support of 

the application. Nevertheless, an illustrative site plan (shown in figure 2 below) 

together with the parameters of development have been submitted which are as 

follows (Note: all industrial units consist of a combination of the base unit size noted 

below): 

 

 Light industrial/storage units (per individual unit) 

WIDTH: 9.5m min – 10.0m max 

Tudalen8



DEPTH: 14.5m min – 15.0m max 

HEIGHT: 6.5m min – 7.5m max 

 Light industrial/storage units (unit 8 and 9) 

WIDTH: 30.0m min – 30.175m max 

DEPTH: 25.0m min – 25.10m max 

HEIGHT: 6.5m min – 7.5m max 

 Office unit building 27 

WIDTH: 30.0m min – 30.35m max 

DEPTH: 14.5m min – 15.0m max 

HEIGHT: 6.5m min – 7.5m max 

 Office unit building 28/29 

WIDTH: 40.0m min – 40.35m max 

DEPTH: 14.5m min – 15.0m max 

HEIGHT: 6.5m min – 7.5m max 

 
Figure 2: Indicative Layout Plan 

 
 

All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the 

Council’s online register. 

 

NEGOTIATIONS 

 

Officers have engaged in dialogue over the development, notably in terms of ecology 

and the buffer zone to be provided between the Towers Hotel and the proposed units. 

Amended plans have been submitted which substantially increase this area. 

 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION  

 

In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016, statutory Pre-Application Consultation 

(PAC) was carried out by the developer.  

Tudalen9

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2021/1206


The consultation exercise took place between 22nd July 2019 and the 26th August 

2019, and involved notifying local residents within the surrounding area, together with 

Ward members and specialist consultees.  

 

Several of the specialist consultees made comment, however no comments were 

received from the general public or surrounding neighbouring properties. 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 

The application site has the following relevant planning history: 

 

P2003/1400 Administration building, garage and go kart building in connection with a 

driving activity centre. Approved 03/02/04. 

 

P2005/0339 Office and go kart/off road instruction and driving activity centre. 

Approved 21/07/05. 

 

P2005/0702 Certificate of lawfulness for proposed use - paint ball centre not issued 

11/08/05. 

 

P2005/1600 Change of use to lasertag and paint ball centre. Approved 17/05/2006. 

 

P2006/0452 Go kart and paintball/lasertag centre with office administrative facilities. 

Approved 27/06/06. 

 

P2010/1017 construction of temporary access track and associated works 

(permission for a temporary period of 30 months, within which a maximum of 12 

weeks use would be permitted). Approved 08/02/11. 

P2014/0508 construction of temporary access track and associated works 

(permission for a temporary period of 24 months, within which a maximum of 12 

weeks use would be permitted) approved 26/09/14. 

 

P2016/0456 demolition of existing pipe bridge structures plus retention and 

completion of works to facilitate the temporary construction access track and 

associated works (permission for a temporary period of 18 months, within which a 

maximum of 12 weeks use would be permitted) plus the regularisation of works to 

trees protected by a tree preservation order together with site clearance works and 

ecological mitigation/compensation. Approved 13/09/16. 

P2019/5090 Request for screening opinion under Regulation 6(1) of the 

(Environmental Impact Assessment )(Wales) Regulations 2017 for a mixed Use Light 

Industrial & Office Development and associated works. Screening not required 

18/06/2019. 

Tudalen10



CONSULTATIONS 

 

Coedffranc Town Council: No reply, therefore no observations to make.  

 

Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways): No objection subject to 

conditions. 

 

Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage): no objection subject to conditions. 

 

Contaminated land: No objection subject to conditions. 

 

Natural Resources Wales: No objection. 

  

Coal Authority: No objection subject to condition. 

 

Welsh Water: No objection subject to condition and informative. 

 

Wales and West Utilities: Provided standard comments in respect for the need for 

developers to get a copy of their up-to-date gas plans and general conditions before 

commencing any work. 

 

Crime Prevention Advisor: No objections provides comments on security aspect of 

the design. 

 

Environmental Health (Noise): No objection, subject to conditions.  

 

Environmental Health (Air): No objection. 

 

Biodiversity: No objection subject to conditions. 

 

Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust: No objection.  

 

Aboriculturist: No objection subject to conditions. 

 

Network Rail: No objection subject to informative. 

 

Fire and rescue Service: no objection. 

 

National Grid: have a holding objection in relation to safety distances between 

apparatus. 

 

Swansea Council: Concerns in relation to amount of Office B1 development that 

could result from the proposal, which could have an adverse impact upon Swansea 

City centre. 

Tudalen11



REPRESENTATIONS 

 

The neighbouring properties were consulted on 7th November 2019 and again on 5th 

October 2020.  

 

The application was also advertised in the South Wales Evening Post on 19th 

November 2019 and 8th October 2020 and on site on 7th November 2019 and 1st 

October 2020 as a departure to the Local Development Plan. 

 

A letter of objection was received from the local Ward Member for Coedffranc West:  

 

“I wish to submit observations regarding the above named application. I feel that this 

matter needs to be looked into by the planning committee, including a site visit. The 

proposed access road is very close to hotel rooms at the Towers hotel and given that 

these commercial properties may have lorries delivering at all times of the day and 

night it could have an adverse affect with regard to noise on the property and would 

result in a loss of amenity. I feel that the access road is not in the right place as there 

is very little view of oncoming traffic from the entrance. There would also be an 

increase in traffic going through Jersey Marine village and Fabian Way due to 

vehicles accessing the proposed development. Jersey Marine has already had an 

increase in traffic because of the Coed Darcy development which has yet to be 

addressed by way of the building of a link road between there and Ffordd Amazon. 

You will note that there is a weight limit through Jersey Marine, which would then 

need to be more rigorously enforced. In summary, the increase on local traffic, noise 

and loss of amenity means that this is an unacceptable development to local people. 

I would therefore be grateful if the committee could look at this development and 

come to their own determination.” 

 

In addition, to date 1 no representations have been received and summarised as 

follows:  

 

 The proposed access road runs along the back of the Towers Hotel which 

currently enjoys complete peace and quiet as it overlooks trees and open land. 

The proposal to site a road which will be used day and night by commercial 

traffic so near to our building and running along the entire back of our hotel is 

unreasonable.  

 All of our conference rooms face onto the proposed access road; the access 

road would have a detrimental effect for future weddings and functions within 

these rooms.  

 One of our unique selling points in The Towers is peace and quiet and the 

beautiful views from both the function rooms and bedrooms along the back of 

Tudalen12



the hotel. This would be entirely lost with an access road to an industrial 

development running immediately adjacent to the hotel. 

 There is also the effect of the entrance to this road on the village of Jersey 

Marine. This is currently a quiet rural village and large volumes of commercial 

traffic will completely change the character of the village. We note that there 

has been no traffic survey or report into the possible effects of this application 

on Jersey Marine or for that matter The Towers Hotel and Spa. 

 The Towers spa treatment rooms and chill out lounge are situated in the 

Annexe building, which faces and looks onto the proposed site; we believe that 

the overlooking will result in a loss of privacy, which will cause a massive 

reduction in our business, which will lead to us having to close. 

 The proposed buildings are far too close to the towers building, which is not 

even shown on any of the submitted plans, and the idea of siting their bins 

along our boundary is completely anti-social. 

 The Towers unique selling point of providing spa days in a peaceful, tranquil 

location, where the emphasis is very much on recovering well-being to the 

mind, body and soul, will be completely lost if this development goes ahead.  

 Concerns have been raised in relation to Building Works. Having potential to 

disrupt and upset guests stay/experience at the Towers spa. Works in the past 

have caused weeks of noise and dust and we had a never-ending string of 

complaints, which adversely affected the business and force it to close loosing 

employment for 100 local people. 

REPORT 

 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council 

to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable 

development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in 

consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as 

set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council 

has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 

ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 

National Planning Policy 

 

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) was revised and restructured in February 2021 to 

coincide with publication of, and take into account the policies, themes and 

Tudalen13

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf


approaches set out in, Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 and to deliver the vision 

for Wales that is set out therein. 

 

Future Wales now forms part of the Development Plan for all parts of Wales,  

comprising a strategy for addressing key national priorities through the planning 

system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 

decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving 

the health and well-being of our communities. All Development Management 

decisions, strategic and local development plans, planning appeals and all other work 

directed by the development plan need to accord with Future Wales.  

 

The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes 

towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) 

Act 2015 and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

PPW11 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as 

overarching themes and embodies a placemaking approach throughout, with the aim 

of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising Places and 

Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system as one of the 

main tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking principles are a tool to 

achieving this through both plan making and the decision making process.  

 

PPW11 para 5.4.1 states “For planning purposes the Welsh Government defines 

economic development as the development of land and buildings for activities that 

generate sustainable long term prosperity, jobs and incomes. The planning system 

should ensure that the growth of output and employment in Wales as a whole is not 

constrained by a shortage of land for economic uses.” Economic land uses include 

the traditional employment land uses (offices, research and development, industry 

and warehousing), as well as uses such as retail, tourism, and public services. 

 

PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of 

which the following are of relevance: 

 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5     Nature Conservation and Planning  

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12    Design 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15    Development and Flood Risk  

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18    Transport 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23  Economic Development 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 24   The Historic Environment 

 

Tudalen14

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


Local Planning Policy 
 

The Local Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 

Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the 

following policies are of relevance: 
 

Strategic Policies: 
 

 Policy SP1 Climate Change 

 Policy SP2  Health 

 Policy SP3  Sustainable Communities 

 Policy SP4  Infrastructure 

 Policy SP10  Open Space Provision 

 Policy SP11 Employment Growth 

 Policy SP15  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 

 Policy SP18 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

 Policy SP19 Waste Management 

 Policy SP20  Transport Network 

 Policy SP21  Built Environment and Historic Heritage 

 

Topic based Policies: 

 

 Policy SC1  Settlement Limits 

 Policy I1 Infrastructure Requirements 

 Policy OS1 Open Space Provision 

 Policy EC2/1 Existing Employment Areas (Fabian Way) 

 Policy EC3 Employment Area Uses 

 Policy EN7  Important Natural Features 

 Policy EN8  Pollution and Land Stability 

 Policy RE2 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Development 

 Policy W3 Waste Management in New Development 

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development 

 Policy BE1  Design 

 

Supplementary Planning Guidance: 

 

The following SPG are of relevance to this application: 

 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018) 

 Pollution (October 2016) 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Development (July 2017) 

 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 

 Design (July 2017) 

Tudalen15

https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328


EIA Screening 

 

The application site does not exceed the Schedule 2 threshold for development of 

this type as outlined within the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations. As 

such, the application has not been screened.  

 

The proposed development is located within a zone of influence of Crymlyn Bog SAC, 

and Ramsar and as such has been screened. As a result of the screening, it was 

concluded that an Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not required in this instance. 

 

Issues 

 

Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to 

the principle of development, impact on visual amenity and the character of the area, 

the amenities of neighbouring properties, highway and pedestrian safety and the free 

flow of traffic, biodiversity, drainage, flooding and pollution control (including noise 

and contamination).   

 

Principle of Development 

 

Whilst the majority of the development lies within an existing employment area 

defined by Policy EC2/1 Existing Employment Areas (Fabian Way), parts of the 

site mainly the access are located outside of this allocation and outside of settlement 

limits. This is the access into the site and a section near the buffer along the west 

boundary of the Towers Hotel. This is illustrated on the plan below: 

 
Figure 3: Plan showing extent of site located within Employment Allocation EC2/1 

 

 

Tudalen16



Therefore, the development has been advertised as a ‘departure’ to the Local 

Development Plan. Each of the issues (buffer zone and access road) are addressed 

separately below. 

 

Buffer Zone between the employment allocation and the Towers Complex 

 

The boundary of EC2/1 was drawn to exclude a wooded area which would have acted 

as a buffer between any future employment development and the existing Towers 

complex. However, this land been cleared of trees at some time prior to 2017. The 

majority of the site is now covered in scrub. In light of the above, it would be vital that 

any development retains a buffer – the replanting and landscaping of this area would 

then be afforded protection via conditions of any permission issued.  

 

The original submission proposed built development right up to the red line of the 

application boundary, this would have completely removed any opportunity to 

reinstate a landscaped buffer between this site and the existing Tower Hotel complex 

to the east. In negotiation with the applicant, a revised scheme was submitted which 

realigned the build development further to the west, away from the common boundary 

with the Towers Hotel site. This reintroduced a robust landscaped buffer zone that 

would both provide adequate screening for physical separation, and allow for 

protection of visual and amenity for residents and visitors, whilst allowing the 

proposed uses to function without undue restriction.  

 

Whilst the proposal still extends outside of the employment allocation, it retains a 

distance in excess of 33m between the buildings proposed on the application site and 

rear elevation of the Towers complex. Furthermore, this area is proposed to be 

planted in trees and vegetation, which would be detailed by condition of any 

permission issued. This plan below illustrates the distance the development would go 

beyond the allocation boundary line (shown in blue). 
 

Figure 4: Plan showing buffer zone and boundary of employment allocation 

 

Tudalen17



PPW Para 1.18 states “A plan-led approach is the most effective way to secure 

sustainable development through the planning system and it is essential that plans 

are adopted and kept under review. Legislation secures a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise to ensure that social, economic, cultural and 

environmental issues are balanced and integrated. 

 

As such the key question is whether the proposal is sustainable development or 

whether the reduction of this buffer zone compromises this because of the adverse 

effects it could have upon the Towers complex and the environment generally.  

 

The previous removal of the woodland buffer, afforded no protection at that time, 

means there is now no identifiable boundary on the ground. As such, would the 

incorporation of part of this vacant area into the employment development 

compromise the sustainability of the scheme or undermine any other protection 

policies within the Local Development Plan.  

 

The amended proposal now provides a slightly reduced buffer area which will be 

planted with trees and other vegetation. This would still create separation distances 

in excess of 33m between the proposed and existing development sites. As such it is 

considered that this small reduction (approx. 9-10m) would not result in the 

development being unsustainable or an inappropriate form of development that would 

result in unacceptable impacts that would unduly detract from the overall principle of 

land use in the area. It would still ensure that this allocated site could be developed 

in the interests of the economic benefit of the area as a whole, whilst ensuring that its 

direct impacts on the adjoining existing development are protected.  

 

The benefits from this are that a viable mixed business and light industrial 

development is achieved. In this respect consideration has been given to guidance in 

Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development which emphasises the need to 

recognise and give due weight to the economic benefits associated with new 

development. 

 

In this case, the applicant has emphasised that this proposal seeks to provide a 

proposed mix use light industrial and office development (B1, B2, B8) providing 

enough business area to provide 29 additional units which will have a combined floor 

space of 5,300m2. This will have the potential to offer wider economic benefits in 

terms of employment / job creation which could also have positive impacts upon other 

local businesses. It should also be noted, that job opportunities would be created 

during the construction period, which could also have another positive impact upon 

local businesses. 

 

Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would 

introduce many small-scale business units into the area, create local employment 

Tudalen18



opportunities and add value to the local economy during construction and 

beyond.  Consequently, these positive impacts are considered to add weight to the 

approval of the development. The reduction of the buffer to incorporate land outside 

of settlement limits is on balance considered to constitute sustainable development, 

albeit not in accordance with the Development Plan, being acceptable given the 

suggested reintroduction of landscaping, and the employment and economic benefit 

that will be obtained. This would accord with Policies EC2/1 and EC3 respectively. 

 

Access Road 

 

The access road into the site is also located outside of settlement limits, and in 

planning terms is considered to be within the open countryside. It is noted that the 

access road and access point are all seen on site as one piece of land, and are 

defined strongly be the existing raised embankment to the north of the site, upon 

which a former railway track ran. This provides a strong defensible boundary to the 

north of the site, beyond which the alignment of the Canal accords another defined 

linear feature in the landscape.  

 

Criterion 9 of Policy SC1 states that development may be acceptable outside of 

defined settlement limits where it is ‘…associated with the provision of public utilities, 

infrastructure and waste management facilities that cannot reasonably be located 

elsewhere’. ‘Infrastructure’ typically refers to the physical structures that are required 

for a community to operate, including roads.  

 

In this instance, the application site can only be accessed via the existing gated 

access (i.e. off Ashley Terrace B4290) – this is due to the defensible features to the 

north of the former railway embankment and to the south by the existing mineral 

railway line, and beyond that Ffordd Amazon. Given that in this case, the access 

cannot reasonably be located elsewhere, the alignment of the proposed access road 

is considered compliant with Policy SC1. 

 

In relation to the physical impact of this access road, the access is already in place 

and presently gated, and has clearly been used in the past for maintenance. As such, 

it is considered that any further physical alterations would not unduly detract from the 

visual amenity and character of the area.  

 

Conclusion 

 

Although these specific elements of the proposal are not in accordance with the Local 

Development Plan, the deviations from this allocation to provide the supporting 

infrastructure, and screening to the site can be delivered which will have an additional 

economic benefit to the local area. As such, the principle of development is 

acceptable subject to further design, highways, drainage, ecology considerations 

addressed within this report. 

Tudalen19



Impact on Visual Amenity and Character 

 

Strategic Policy SP21 seeks to conserve and enhance the built environment and 

historic heritage, with Policy BE1 (Design) stipulating that all development proposals 

demonstrate high quality design which fully takes into account the natural, historic 

and built environmental context and contributes to the creation of attractive, 

sustainable places.  

 

Technical Advice Note 12: Design (July 2014), also refers to the need to consider 

local context and character, but at a broad level. In reference to the layout of 

development: 

 

4.11 “Scale - of development in relation to surroundings, including height, width and 

length of each building proposed within the development; how the massing of the 

proposal contributes to the existing hierarchy of development to reinforce character; 

how the mass and height impacts on privacy, sunlight and microclimate; and how 

height impacts on the attractiveness and safety of neighbouring public space.” 

 

4.12 “Layout of development - how the layout makes the development integrate 

with its surroundings whilst taking into consideration the orientation of the building to 

maximise energy efficiency and connectivity (the ways in which routes and open 

spaces within the development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to 

each other and to buildings and spaces outside the development); how the external 

area contributes towards the development and is used to make the development a 

more sustainable development; how is the chosen site the best location and how it 

links into adjacent uses.” 

 

Local Planning Authorities should ensure that the proposed developments should not 

have an unacceptable impact upon the character and amenity of an area. 

 

The majority of the site lies within EC2/1 an area allocated for employment. Figure 5 

below illustrates the extent of the employment allocation, which incorporates the 

Amazon, Bay Studios and extends down Fabian Way to the administrative boundary 

of Neath Port Talbot. There is also the Towers hotel and spa to the east of the 

application site, and the residential houses at Ashleigh Terrace and Ocean View to 

the north and east. 

 

Much of this allocation is already characterised by large industrial buildings and 

warehouses, as such the introduction of further industrial type development in the 

area would not be out of character. The indicative layout also shows that a large buffer 

which will be planted with trees and shrubs which will act as a visual buffer to the 

wider employment allocation and that of the Towers hotel and Spa. 

 
 

Tudalen20



Figure 5: Plan showing Existing Employment Area EC2/1 (in part) 

 

 
 

The parameters limiting the scale of the development and indicative plans submitted 

with the application, show that the proposed development can incorporate a design 

which is not dissimilar to the design of the surrounding industrial development 

however at a much smaller scale with heights being kept between 6.6m and 7.5m to 

take into account the adjoining hotel complex.  

 

The Towers Hotel has objected stating the proposed buildings are far too close to the 

hotel complex, and the siting of waste bins along their boundary is completely anti-

social. The separation distance (circa 33m) between buildings however is considered 

sufficient as to not cause any unacceptable impact in relation to overbearing of 

overshadowing. Whilst the indicative plan does show an enclosed bin store, this is 

30m away from the building and there is also a landscaped buffer zone between the 

existing and proposed development. This is considered sufficient distance to ensure 

there is no unacceptable impact on the neighbouring hotel.  

The section below provides an illustration of the scale of the units and the 

buffer/separation between the proposed development and Towers Hotel and Spa. 

Figure 6: Scale of development and buffer between the Towers and the proposal 

 

Tudalen21



In terms of access, the site is served by an existing access off Ashleigh Terrace and 

a crushed stone track that leads into the site entrance shown below: 

 
Figure 7: Existing Access to Site and Track 

 
 

The proposal seeks to utilise the alignment of the existing access and track, 

continuing from the access point off the B4290 as illustrated below: 

 
Figure 8: Proposed Site Access 

 
 

It has been noted earlier in the report that the proposed access is located outside of 

settlement limits, and any specific allocation, and as such considered to be within the 

open countryside. However, is should be noted that the access road and access point 

is defined by the existing embankment to the north of the site and the Towers Hotel 

to the south, both located at a higher level. It was also stated earlier that this section 

of land could only be accessed via this existing access shown in Figure 8. As such, 

the physical alterations to the visual amenity and character of the area through the 

creation of this road would not unduly detract from the amenity of the area.  

 

Nevertheless, should outline planning permission be granted, the finer details 

associated with the design, layout, finishes and landscaping materials will be 

Tudalen22



submitted at the Reserved Matters stage. Subject to the above, it is considered that 

the site is capable of accommodating a development with the associated access 

roads, landscaping, open space and parking facilities which will safeguard the 

character and appearance of the surrounding area. 

 

The Towers and the local Ward Member have raised concerns in regard to the access 

road running along the side of the hotel complex, citing location of conference rooms 

and view of trees. Loss of view is not a material planning consideration and it is also 

noted that only a small amount of category C trees are to be removed which are to 

be removed anyway due to the overhead pylons. Again, the physical alterations to 

the visual amenity and character of the area through the creation of this road would 

not unduly detract from the amenity of the area and as such would not cause any 

unacceptable impact to the Towers Hotel. Furthermore, operational hours of the 

development would be restricted to address any impacts, which is addressed in more 

detail later in this report.  

Accordingly, it is concluded that the proposals accords with Policy BE1 of the Neath 

Port Talbot Local Development Plan, and reflects the aspirations for design quality 

within Planning Policy Wales and Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016). 

 

Residential Amenity 

 

Criterion 4 of LDP Policy BE1 (Design) stipulates that any development should not 

have a significant adverse impact upon the amenity of occupiers of adjacent land or 

the community. Policy EN8 also states that proposals which would be likely to have 

an unacceptable adverse effect on local amenity or would expose people to 

unacceptable risks such as noise pollution, land contamination and light pollution will 

not be permitted (such issues are considered later in the report).  

 

The application site is situated predominantly in an area allocated for employment 

use (commercial / industrial units / businesses), the nearest property is the Towers 

Hotel and Spa to the east. The nearest residential properties located to the north 

(Ashleigh Terrace) are approximately 50m from the development. There is a wooded 

area in between the application site and these residential dwellings. There are also 

residential dwellings located to the east, opposite the access into the site (Ocean 

View); these are approximately 15m from the access and 140m from the main 

development.  

 

In light of the separation distances between the proposed development and the 

residential dwellings, the development would not be considered to have any 

unacceptable impacts in terms of overlooking, overshadowing and overbearing 

impact. 

 

Tudalen23



Having regard to the above, it is concluded that while the proposal would introduce 

new built development, any impacts from the development or its associated activities 

can be sufficiently controlled by design or condition to the extent that the proposal 

would have no unacceptable impacts on residential amenity, and thus comply with 

Policies BE1 and EN8 of the LDP. 

 

Amenity of Towers Hotel 

 

The Towers spa facilities are situated in the Annexe building which faces onto the 

proposed development site. As stated earlier in the report, the separation distance is 

in excess of 33m from building to building, in addition to this, there is a landscaped 

buffer zone between the developments that will be a betterment to the existing 

situation.  

The majority of the site is an employment allocation within the Development Plan, 

and as such any form of development in the area would have an impact on the 

outlook, however, the provision of a landscaped buffer will ensure that these impacts 

are minimised to acceptable levels.  

Noise 

 

To inform the application, the applicant has provided a Noise Impact Assessment by 

Acoustic Consultants Ltd (dated March 2020). The Local Authority’s Environmental 

Health (Noise) Officer has reviewed this information and advised that the report 

suggests that the modelling has assumed that all units are operating at 85dB through 

the daytime which is unlikely, given the proposed type of development and therefore 

this is accepted as a precautionary value for the purposes of the assessment.  

 

However, the report makes several assumptions regarding the use of the premises 

in order to derive its predicted noise levels. Whilst the Noise officer has made no 

objection, the following recommendations have been made to ensure that the 

proposed development is constructed and operates in accordance with those 

assumptions: 

 

 Noise levels from the development: noise from the development shall not 

exceed Noise Limits in Table 5 of the Acoustic Consultants Limited, Noise 

Impact Assessment, B1, B2b, B8 Development, Jersey Marine, Swansea, 

Reference 8180/RD dated March 2020 taken from the nearest noise sensitive 

premises (dwelling or hotel) or another location that is deemed suitable by the 

Local Planning Authority. 

 Control of outside activity: no industrial activity of any kind except loading 

and unloading, shall take place outside the proposed buildings within the 

curtilage of the site. 

Tudalen24



 Operational Noise Management Plan: Prior to the beneficial use of any unit 

within the development hereby permitted an Operational Noise Management 

Plan for that use shall be submitted  

 Construction Environmental Management Plan: is submitted prior to the 

commencement of any development. It is generally accepted that during 

construction, there would be some disturbance from this development to 

residents and nearby properties however this would be transient in nature. 

That being said there will still be residents and a hotel in close proximity to the 

development, as such a Construction Environmental Management Plan 

(CEMP) can be conditioned to ensure issues such as noise disturbance is kept 

to a minimum. 

 Deliveries: No deliveries by Heavy Goods Vehicles (vehicles over 3500kg 

maximum gross weight) shall be made to the approved uses outside of the 

hours 07:00hrs and 19:00hrs.  All deliveries outside of these hours should be 

arranged in accordance with Department for Transport document “Quiet 

Deliveries Good Practice Guidance – Key Principles and Processes for 

Retailers”. Restricting the delivery times will ensure there is no unacceptable 

impact to residents and surrounding properties. 

 Hours of operation: shall be 07.00hrs – 19.00hrs Mondays – Saturdays and 

not at all on Sundays or Public Holidays as the Noise Impact Assessment 

states that “Due to the size of the units, it is assumed the internal operations 

will occur during the daytime hours only.” Furthermore, the Noise Impact 

Assessment did not include monitoring on a Sunday when background noise 

levels can be expected to drop, as such the condition does not allow operation 

on a Sunday or Public Holiday. Restricting the hours of operation will ensure 

there is no unacceptable impact to residents and surrounding properties. 

 Facade Mitigation: a scheme for the soundproofing of the buildings identified 

in Figure 4 of the Acoustic Consultants Limited, Noise Impact Assessment, B1, 

B2b, B8 Development, Jersey Marine, Swansea, Reference 8180/RD dated 

March 2020. 

 Receipt of Complaints sets out the procedure should a complaint be received 

in relation to noise. 

The Towers Hotel and local Ward Member have made several objections in terms of 

noise and disturbance from the development on adjoining properties and their 

amenity. It should be noted that the Towers is located in close proximity to Fabian 

Way and the B4290 these are very busy roads; there is also the Amazon development 

that generates a significant level of traffic, plus other industrial units in close proximity 

all of which would generate a level of noise.  

 

Tudalen25



In addition to the above it is considered that a further condition could also be imposed 

to restrict the use of the units that are located on the eastern boundary (adjacent to 

the Towers hotel) to B1 (a) Offices, (b) research and development and (c) for any 

industrial process, which can be carried out in any residential area without causing 

detriment to the amenity of the area and B8 (Storage and distribution), would further 

reduce any noise and disturbance. 

 

Consequently, it is considered that sufficient controls (as above) can be imposed to 

ensure there is no unacceptable impact in relation to noise and disturbance from the 

development of this site which is allocated for the uses proposed.  

 

In relation to the impact of building work, whilst all construction will lead to disturbance 

these impacts are transient in nature and short lived. Nevertheless, subject to the 

above controls and conditions, it is considered that the impacts from construction will 

be minimised, to appropriate levels. Furthermore, any harm can be minimised further 

by restricting working hours, this can be also be done via imposing a suitably worded 

condition. 

 

Lighting 

 

This application is outline, as such no details of external lighting have been provided 

with this application. As external lighting may be required for such a development, to 

illuminate external areas it will be necessary to impose a condition to ensure 

adequate details are provided as part of the first reserved matters application to 

ensure any future lighting does not have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity 

of residential amenity, surrounding properties and ecology.    

 

Construction lighting may also cause a nuisance, as such the Construction 

Environmental Management Plan condition will also consider construction lighting. 

 

Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 

 

Policy TR2 identifies that proposals will only be permitted where there are appropriate 

levels of parking and cycling facilities provided and that the development is accessible 

by a range of travel means, including public transport and safe cycle and pedestrian 

routes.  

 

Policy BE1 requires (amongst other things), that new development has no significant 

adverse impact on highway safety, with Policy TR2 emphasising that development 

proposals will only be permitted where all of the stated criteria are satisfied, including 

that ‘(1) The development does not compromise the safe, effective and efficient use 

of the highway network and does not have an adverse impact on highway safety or 

create unacceptable levels of traffic generation’. 

 

Tudalen26



The site is located approximately 7km east of Swansea city centre, with access to 

pedestrian, cycle and public transport facilities. There is a network of footways within 

the vicinity of the site that provide good pedestrian connectivity within the local area. 

The site can be connected by cycle route to the built-up areas of Jersey Marine, 

Llandarcy, Briton Ferry and Skewen with a shared-use facility on Ashleigh Terrace to 

the south of the access junction. 

 

The nearest bus stops are located on Ashleigh Terrace with the southbound bus stop 

immediately north of the site access junction. The northbound bus stop is located 

approximately 25m to the south-east of the site access junction. A number of bus 

services are available from the local bus stops, including frequent services to 

Swansea city centre and Neath. The nearest rail station to the site is in Swansea, 

which is accessible from local bus services and located approximately 6.3km to the 

west of the site. The station provides access to local, regional and national rail 

services. 

 

The access to the site is directly off the B4290 utilising the existing access which has 

been constructed previously. The indicative layout shows a proposed access road 

measuring 7.3m wide and 2m wide pavements either side will run along the northern 

edge of the site. This will in turn provide access into three courtyards the first two 

comprising of the industrial units with the third being the offices.  The indicative layout 

also shows that a total of 119 parking spaces can be provided on the site along with 

cycle storage. This application is however in outline and as such, the details provided 

are only indicative of what could be provided. However, it is considered that there is 

sufficient space within the application site to ensure the development is provided with 

adequate parking and cycle provision and pedestrian links. 

 

A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted to assess the development. This 

concludes that the proposed development would not be expected to have a 

detrimental impact in terms of sustainable travel, road safety and traffic impact and 

therefore the existing highway network can accommodate the development. 

 

In addition to the TA, a Travel Plan has been submitted in association with the TA to 

help promote and encourage sustainable travel to/from the proposed development. 

In order to ensure that this assessment robustly analyses a ‘worst-case scenario’, the 

potential vehicle trip reducing benefits of the site Travel Plan have not been 

considered within the trip generation projections. However, it is worth noting that the 

Travel Plan would be expected to increase the number of trips generated by 

sustainable modes, and reduce the number of car trips. 

 

It has also been noted that there is currently a 7.5 tonne weight restriction along the 

existing highway of Ashleigh Terrace (B4290). This will have to be reviewed and 

relocated in order for HGVs to gain access to the proposed site.   

 

Tudalen27



The application and supporting documents has been assessed by the Head of 

Engineering and Transport (Highways) who has raised no objection subject to the 

following which can be imposed via suitably worded conditions: 

 

 A Construction Method Statement. 

 A car parking layout is provided in accordance with the Parking Standards 

SPG. 

 A traffic management scheme to prevent obstruction to the entrance of the 

site. 

 Construction details of the highways is provided that include a combined 

pedestrian/cycleway. 

 A lighting scheme is provided. 

 A scheme for the relocation of the 7.5 tonne weight restriction along Ashleigh 

Terrace to allow access to the site. 

 That a travel plan is implemented. 

 Restriction to opening onto a highway. 

In relation to Active Travel and promoting cycling, the development already has good 

pedestrian links, and is also served by a public transport link with a bus stop located 

on the main road. The proposal will include a combined cycle/pedestrian link and 

cycle storage for 30 bicycles allowing future employees the opportunity to cycle to 

work utilising the existing cycle routes thus promoting alternative means of transport 

to the car. 

 

The City & County of Swansea have recommended making additional improvements 

to Active Travel routes within the area. In relation to this, the applicant will be providing 

significant infrastructure as part of the development, which includes an access road 

which will include a combined pedestrian/cycleway, cycle storage, electric vehicle 

charging points, all of which have been negotiated as part of this application.  

 

Given the significant infrastructure being provided, it is considered to be 

unreasonable to ask for an additional financial contribution to also upgrade the 

existing active travel infrastructure. The infrastructure proposed will future proof this 

development in terms of active travel. Furthermore, it should also be noted that 

upgrading some of the routes within the area are complex as they have implications 

with land ownership and biodiversity. 

 

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposals would accord with Policies 

SP20 and TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  

 

Tudalen28



Land Contamination 

 

Given that the site is located within an area at risk from land contamination, the 

applicant has submitted a ‘Geotechnical Report’ by Thyssen (dated 1999).  

 

The Authority’s Land Contamination Officer has advised that due to the report having 

been prepared in 1999, it would no longer be a viable and appropriate report to 

consider and consequently have recommended their standard land contamination 

conditions to be imposed, which would address any land contamination issues as part 

of the first reserved matters submission.  

 

It is considered that with the above recommended conditions being imposed, any land 

contamination issues from this site can be adequately addressed, and as such the 

proposed development would accord with Policy EN8 of the LDP. 

 

Drainage 

 

All new developments where the construction area is of 100m2 or more will require 

sustainable drainage, constructed in accordance with mandatory standards for 

sustainable drainage published by Welsh Ministers to manage on-site surface water. 

These systems must be approved by the Council’s Engineering Service acting in its 

SuDS Approving Body (SAB). As the development site is over 100m2 a SAB approval 

will be required prior to any work commencing. A note can be attached advising the 

applicant of this requirement and information from the Local Authority’s drainage 

section.  

 

The Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage) has advised that the development 

would require SAB approval and also made recommendations relating to springs and 

ground water, interference of ditches, watercourses, and streams or culverts, all of 

which can be imposed via suitably worded conditions. Recommendations relating to 

surface water and land drainage not connecting to sewer, ensuring that adequate 

drainage provision is made, and that the development does not adversely affect 

adjoining land would be dealt with via any subsequent SAB application. 

 

Welsh Water has also advised of the SAB requirement. In addition, the requirement 

for a foul water scheme has been highlighted. This can be imposed via a suitably 

worded condition.  

 

Flooding  

 

In considering the principle of development, a material consideration is the site’s 

location in respect of whether it falls within DAM Zone C2. Within Zone C2, 

development can take place subject to the application of a justification test, including 

acceptability of consequences. The justification tests set out in TAN 15 include: 

Tudalen29



i. “Its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority 

regeneration initiative or a local authority strategy required to sustain an 

existing settlement; or,  

ii. Its location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment objectives 

supported by the local authority, and other key partners, to sustain an existing 

settlement or region;  

     and,  

iii. It concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously 

developed land (PPW fig 2.; )and,  

iv. The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of 

development have been considered, and in terms of the criteria contained in 

sections 5 and 7 and appendix 1 found to be acceptable.”  

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) has stated the application proposes less vulnerable 

development (industrial units) and that the site is outside, but in close proximity to, 

DAM Zone C2. Whilst this is the case for the building, small sections of the access 

road would fall within flood zone C2.  

 

The site is predominantly within an existing employment allocation EC2/1. It is 

considered that whilst the development would not strictly meet test (i), it would meet 

test (ii) given the accepted contribution of the development to key employment 

objectives. Furthermore, under criterion (iii) it is accepted that the proposal would 

constitute ‘previously developed land’. The final test (iv) is then for the applicant to 

demonstrate through the submission of a Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) 

that the potential consequences of flooding can be managed to an acceptable level. 

 

A FCA and subsequent FCA & Surface Water Drainage Strategy addendum by 

Ambiental Environmental Assessment has been prepared. This concludes following 

the guidelines contained within the TAN15 and ‘Recommended non-statutory 

standards for sustainable drainage (SuDS) in Wales 2017’, the proposed 

development is considered to be suitable assuming appropriate mitigation (including 

adequate warning procedures) can be maintained for the lifetime of the development. 

The SuDS element and water runoff and quality would now be controlled under a 

future SAB application and not required as part of this application, and flood warning 

can be imposed via a condition. 

 

NRW has reviewed the submission and have raised no objection. As such, the 

proposal is considered to comply with the justification tests and acceptability criteria 

and is in accord with the advice contained within TAN 15.  

 

 

Tudalen30



Biodiversity and Ecology 

 

In assessing a planning application the Local Planning Authority must seek to 

maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of functions, and in so doing 

promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise 

of those functions, under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

 

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning states: “Biodiversity, 

conservation and enhancement is an integral part of planning for sustainable 

development. The planning system has an important part to play in nature 

conservation. The use and development of land can pose threats to the conservation 

of natural features and wildlife.” 

 

The majority of the site is documented as ephemeral/short perennial habitat with 

semi-natural broadleaved woodland forming the northern boundary of the site. 

Sections of marshy grassland were also present, however these sections are patchy 

and small in nature. The site supports two species indicative of species rich-

woodland, four species indicative of species-rich neutral grassland, four species 

indicative of species-rich post-industrial sites, two species indicative of calcareous 

grassland and three species indicative of rich marshy grassland habitat.  

 

To support the application, the application has submitted the following documents: 

 

 Phase 1 Habitat Survey 2017. 

 Supplementary Ecology Report April 2021. 

 Bat, Great crested Newt and reptile survey Report 2019. 

 Indicative plan 19/794/20 showing eastern boundary wildlife refuge 

area detail. 

 

It is considered that the proposed habitat creation through informal landscaped areas 

throughout the site and the larger enhancement/buffer area to the eastern boundary 

will mitigate and enhance the site. The Local Authority’s Ecologist has assessed the 

proposal and has advised that sufficient areas of landscaping have been provided, 

however this would be subject to further details which will need to be submitted as 

part of the first reserved matters application. As such, they have no objection to the 

development subject to the following: 

 

 Full details of the landscaping, which shall include planting plans; written 

specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 

and grass establishment); schedules of plants/tree noting species (this should 

contain a majority of native and/or wildlife friendly species), plant supply sizes 

and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; details/specification of 

pond; and an implementation programme.  

Tudalen31



 A landscaping management plan, including long-term design objectives, 

management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 

areas.  

 Details of a scheme for bird nesting mitigation. 

It is considered that the above recommendations can be secured, via suitably worded 

conditions. In addition, any works/clearance to the site should avoid the bird nesting 

season, this can be imposed via an informative. 

 

Trees 

 

There are some trees on site and protected trees to the north, as such a tree survey 

was submitted to inform the application. The Local Authority’s Arboriculturist agrees 

with the tree report dated 3rd June 2020, that there will be little direct impact on the 

trees within and adjacent to this site. The loss of trees will be concentrated around 

the main access to the site.  

 

The report identifies that trees that are to be removed are classed in the C category 

and are therefore of a low quality. It should also be noted that the report states 

regardless of any future development due to the effect on the adjacent hotel and 

overhead power lines a number of these trees will require removal anyway. It is 

considered that the loss of these trees can be compensated with new trees being 

planted within the site and the buffer zone between the development and the Towers 

Hotel as part of a landscaping scheme. It has also been recommended that due to 

the scale of the development, the installation of adequate protective fencing as 

specified in BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction 

must be erected around all retained perimeter trees prior to the start of any ground 

and construction work. A condition can be imposed requiring a scheme for tree 

protection to be submitted. 

 

NRW has noted they welcome the section in the tree survey that states ‘1.9.1 Before 

any tree works are carried out, the trees should be inspected for any evidence of bats 

or nesting birds’. A condition can be imposed to ensure any works to trees are carried 

out in accordance with this report. 

 

To conclude the applicant has demonstrated there is no unacceptable impact upon 

ecology, trees or protected species and has demonstrated that the biodiversity will be 

maintained and enhanced and as such accords with PPW11, Technical Advice Note 

5 (Nature Conservation and Planning) and Policies SP15 and Policies EN7 of the 

LDP.  

 

 

 

Tudalen32



Impact on Mineral Resource 

 

It is noted that the very edge of the site along the access road is located within a 

Mineral Safeguarding Area under Policy M1 of the adopted LDP (coal). Policy M1 

seeks to safeguard mineral resources as they are finite and any development will 

need to meet criteria which ensure they are not sterilised or their extraction hindered. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, it is considered that the development, due to its location, 

will not have a significant impact on the possible working of the mineral resource. 

Furthermore, given the site’s close proximity to the settlement limits, it is very unlikely 

that any mineral extraction would be acceptable in this location. Accordingly, there is 

no objection to the principle of development on mineral safeguarding grounds. 

 

Ground Conditions/ Coal Legacy 

 

The Coal Authority (CA) advised that part of the site is located in an area where 

historic unrecorded underground coal mining activity is likely to have taken place at 

shallow depth associated with a thick coal seam outcrop. As such, a Geotechnical 

and contamination assessment and a coal mining risk assessment was submitted to 

inform the application. 

 

The CA concurs with the recommendations of the Coal Mining Risk Assessment 

Report (2nd September 2019, prepared by Envirosolution Ltd); that coal mining legacy 

potentially poses a risk to the proposed development and that intrusive site 

investigation works should be undertaken prior to development in order to establish 

the exact situation regarding coal mining legacy issues on the site. 

 

The CA recommends that the LPA impose a Planning Condition should planning 

permission be granted for the proposed development requiring these site 

investigation works prior to commencement of development. 

 

In the event that the site investigations confirm the need for remedial works to treat 

the areas of shallow mine workings to ensure the safety and stability of the proposed 

development, this should also be conditioned to ensure that any remedial works 

identified by the site investigation are undertaken prior to commencement of the 

development. 

 

A condition should therefore require prior to the commencement of development: 

 

 The undertaking of an appropriate scheme of intrusive site investigations; 

 The submission of a report of findings arising from the intrusive site 

investigations; 

 The submission of a scheme of remedial works for approval; and 

Tudalen33



 Implementation of those remedial works. 

 

The CA therefore has no objection to the proposed development subject to the 

imposition of a condition to secure the above. 

 

Renewable Energy 

 

Policy RE2 (Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Energy in new Development) 

requires proposals with a total floor space of 1,000 sqm or more to submit an ‘Energy 

Assessment’ to determine the feasibility of incorporating such a scheme and where 

viable implement the scheme. 

 

Furthermore, the Welsh Government expects all new development to mitigate the 

causes of climate change in accordance with the energy hierarchy for planning, as 

set out in PPW (Edition 11). Reducing energy demand and increasing energy 

efficiency, through the location and design of new development, will assist in meeting 

energy demand with renewable and low carbon sources. This is particularly important 

in supporting the electrification of energy use, such as the growing use of electric 

vehicles as all aspects of the energy hierarchy have their part to play, simultaneously, 

in helping meet decarbonisation and renewable energy targets.  

 

The applicant has advised they intend to take the fabric first approach so that the 

buildings have an energy efficient design. They have also indicated that the final 

scheme will maximise the orientation of the site and location of buildings to provide 

photovoltaic panels to roofs where appropriate. No details of electric car points have 

been provided. 

 

As such, a condition can be imposed to not only provide details of the low energy 

design and solar PV system as part of the first reserved matters application but also 

provide details of electric charging provision within the site to ensure that 10% of the 

spaces are electrified. As such, with the above conditions the applicant can 

demonstrate that the development would comply with the requirements of Policy RE2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  

 

Waste Management 

 

Policy W3 (Waste Management in Development) requires proposals for new build 

development to demonstrate that provision is made for design, layout, storage and 

management of the waste generated by the development both during the construction 

phase and occupation. Whilst no details have been provided, a condition can be 

imposed to address such requirements. 

 

 

 

Tudalen34



Archaeology and Historic Heritage 

 

Glamorgan Gwent Archaeology Trust (GGAT) has assessed the supporting 

documentation. Information in the Historic Environment Record shows two recorded 

listed structures within 100m of the site boundary, one being the Grade II Tower, a 

former camera obscura (Cadw reference 11846), the other being the Grade II 

Handball Court (Cadw reference 11850). There is no buried archaeological resource 

that would be affected by the proposal. 

 

GGAT has advised that the proposed development will not adversely affect the setting 

of the listed buildings and there will not be a requirement for historic environment 

mitigation works and as such have no objection. 

 

Open Space  

 

Policy OS1 (Open Space Provision) states that in the case of employment or 

commercial development proposals of over 1,000 sqm, provision will be sought for 

associated amenity space. This is to allow employees to access outdoor amenity 

space close to the workplace in the interests of health and well-being.  

 

As this is an outline application there are no details of the number of employees each 

unit may have, however there is ample space on site to provide amenity areas for 

future staff. As such, a suitably worded condition can be imposed to ensure some of 

the open space provided on site is utilised for this purpose. It is considered that 

subject to such a condition, the development would comply with the requirements set 

out within Policy OS1. 

 

National Grid Overhead Lines 

 

National Grid has advised the development is in close proximity to their overhead 

lines and have requested the application be held until a 3D model has been provided 

showing their apparatus. They have advised that the statutory minimum safety 

clearance to ground is 7.6m and 8.1m to a road surface. They have also advised that 

any plant machinery, equipment, building or scaffolding should not encroach within 

any of their voltage conductors. This development is in outline and the applicant has 

engaged with National Grid prior to their submission and designed the development 

taking into consideration these pylons and overhead lines.  

 

The indicative layout (which shows the maximum parameters of development) shows 

that the site has been designed to ensure there are no buildings directly under 

overhead lines. Should the building be too close then there is scope within the 

parameters to reduce the siting, size and height of building. The buildings that are 

closest to the overhead lines are units 4, 5 and 28/29. It is considered in this case a 

condition can be imposed to require sufficient details showing the development can 

Tudalen35



meet the requirements of EN 43 – 8 Technical Specification for “overhead line 

clearances” Issue 3 (2004) as part of the first reserved matters application. This will 

ensure any safety distances are achieved. The applicant has been advised of this 

requirement. It is therefore considered that subject to the condition the safety 

distances between the pylons and overhead lines could be achieved. 

 

Other Matters 

 

Network Rail has advised that they have no objection to the principle of the proposed 

development, however have provided a list of criteria in relation to development next 

to a railway line. These relate to foundations, drainage, ground disturbance, access 

points, fencing, encroachment, ground levels, site layout, piling, excavations / 

earthworks, signaling, environmental issues, plant scaffolding and lighting. The 

applicant can be made aware of these requirements via an informative attached to 

the decision notice. 

 

The City & County of Swansea has advised that during 2014 and 2016 the authorities 

worked in collaboration to prepare draft SPG focusing on setting out a Development 

Framework for the Fabian Way Corridor. This SPG set out appropriate land uses and 

place making requirements in accordance with the Development Plan, however to 

date the SPG has not been published/adopted. 

 

Swansea Council’s preferred location for office development is in the ‘Swansea 

Central Area’ as defined within their LDP to support its regeneration and role as the 

City Centre Region. Whilst they do not object to small scale offices they have 

indicated their objection to a large scale B1 use. 

 

As stated earlier in the report however, the proposed development is in accordance 

with the Neath Port Talbot LDP, as the vast majority of the site is allocated for 

employment uses (B1, B2 and B8) and as such is considered to be acceptable. 

 

Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Authority has advised that the developer 

should consider the need to provide adequate water supplies for firefighting purposes 

on the site. Furthermore, the applicant should be advised to contact the Local 

Authority Building Control Department, which is the responsible authority, when 

determining issues concerning means of warning and escape, internal fire spread 

(linings and structure), external fire spread, access and facilities for the Fire and 

Rescue Service, in accordance with the 2007 version of Approved Document B. A 

note to such affect can be added. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with 

Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, 

Tudalen36



in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with 

the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 

Development Plan comprises Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 and the Neath 

Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016. 

 

Whilst it is noted that the proposal would constitute a ‘departure’ from the Local 

Development Plan, it is considered that the development of this brownfield site, with 

business and industrial units will not only enhance the character and appearance of 

the area, it would also provide great economic benefits to the area by providing new 

employment opportunities within Coedffranc West. The proposed development would 

also have no unacceptable impacts upon residential amenity, highway and pedestrian 

safety, biodiversity, pollution and flooding. Accordingly, the proposed development is 

considered to accord with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP10, SP11, SP15, SP16, 

SP18, SP19, SP20 SP21, SC1, I1, OS1, EC2, EC3, EN7, EN8, RE2, W3, TR2 and 

BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

It is further considered that the decision complies with Future Wales – the National 

Plan 2040 and the Council’s well-being objectives and the sustainable development 

principle in accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve subject to conditions. 

 

Conditions 

 

Time Limit Conditions 

 

1. Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, 

(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development 

begins and the development shall be carried out as approved. 

 

 Reason: 

 

 The application was made for outline planning permission 

 

2. Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 

Local Planning Authority not later than three years from the date of this 

permission. 

 

 Reason: 
 

Tudalen37



To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

 

3. The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from 

the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date 

of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is 

the later 

 

 Reason: 

 

To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

 

List of Approved Plans 

 

4. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 

 

 19/794/01 Location Plan 

19/794/02B Proposed site layout (illustrative) 

19/794/03B Proposed site detail 1 (illustrative) 

19/794/04B Proposed site detail 2 (illustrative) 

19/794/05B Proposed court A detail (illustrative) 

19/794/06B Proposed court B detail (illustrative) 

19/794/07B Proposed court C and D detail (illustrative) 

19/798/08A Road Geometry and long section (illustrative) 

19/794/09B Proposed drainage layout (illustrative) 

19/794/10B Cross section position and levels (illustrative) 

19/794/11A Existing cross sections A B and C 

19/794/12A Proposed cross sections A B and C (illustrative) 

19/794/13A Existing and proposed cross sections D E and F (illustrative) 

19/794/19 Bin Store details 

19/794/20 Eastern area wildlife refuge area detail  

Scale Parameters Rev B 

 

 Reason: 

 

 In the interests of clarity. 

 

Pre-Commencement Conditions 

 

5. Before beginning any development at the site, you must do the following: 

 

Tudalen38



a) Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence 

development by submitting a Formal Notice under Article 24B of the Town 

and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 

2012 (DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted 

Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and 

 

b) Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the 

form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or 

in a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and 

displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed 

on durable material. Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times 

when development is being carried out. 

 

 Reason: 

 

To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) 

Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 

 

6. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted 

as part of the first reserved matters application and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall be made with reference to the 

requirements of British Standard BS5228-1:2009 - "Code of practice for noise 

and vibration control on construction and open sites". The CEMP should 

include the following information: 

 

(a) Construction methods: details of the extent and phasing of development; 

details of construction materials or techniques to be used; details for the 

storage and management of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development and details of waste and contaminated land. 

 

(b) General Site Management: details of the construction programme 

including timetable; details of site clearance; construction drainage, site setup 

plan detailing sensitive receptors, buffer zones and relevant protection 

measure maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 

facilities for public viewing; details of complaint investigation procedures. 

 

(c) Control of Nuisances: Identification of the significant construction and 

demolition noise & vibration sources; details of physical and operational 

management controls necessary to mitigate noise & vibration emissions; 

details of dust & odour control measures and measures to control light spill. 

 

(d) Traffic Management: details of site deliveries; details for the loading and 

Tudalen39



unloading of plant and materials; details of wheel wash facilities; details for 

the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; The erection and 

maintenance of security hoarding; A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste 

resulting from demolition and construction works and a scoping route for all 

deliveries to and from the development. 

 

(e) Hours of working on site, including specified hours for deliveries; details of 

restrictions to be applied during construction and demolition works (including 

timing, duration and frequency of works) to prevent noise or nuisance 

amenity issues to surrounding properties. 

 

(f) Biodiversity Management: tree and hedgerow protection, invasive species 

management (to include Himalayan balsam and Japanese knotweed), 

species/habitats protection and mitigation measures. 

 

(g) Water Framework Directive (WFD) Assessment: details of the proposal to 

be assessed against the Water Framework Directive's objectives. 

 

(h) Soil management: topsoil stripping, storage and amelioration for re-use. 

 

(i) CEMP masterplan: detailing the development, location of landscape and 

environmental resources, design proposals and objectives for integration and 

mitigation. 

 

(j)Resource Management: fuel and chemical storage, waste management, 

water consumption and energy consumption. 

 

(k) Pollution Prevention: demonstrate compliance with relevant Guidelines for 

Pollution Prevention, incident response plan and site drainage plan. 

 

(l)Responsible Persons: details of the persons and bodies responsible for 

activities associated with the CEMP and emergency contact details 

 

(m) Drainage management and mitigation methods of controlling surface and 

ground water during construction 

 

The CEMP shall be implemented as approved throughout the site 

preparation and construction phases of the development. 

 

Reason: 

 

In order to ensure necessary management measures are agreed and 

implemented to protect local amenity, especially for people living and/or 

working nearby, highway safety during construction, biodiversity, controlled 

Tudalen40



waters, human health and to accord with Policies BE1, EN7, EN8 and TR2 of 

the Local Development Plan 

 

7. Notwithstanding the submitted information, As part of the first reserved 
matters application an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination 
affecting the application site area shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be carried out 
by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person in 
accordance with BS10175 (2011) 'Investigation of Potentially Contaminated 
Sites Code of Practice' and shall assess any contamination on the site, 
whether or not it originates on the site. The report of the findings shall 
include: 
 
(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination which may be present, if identified as required by the desk top 
study; 
(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 

-  human health, 
-  groundwater and surface waters 
-  adjoining land, 
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, 
pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
-  ecological systems, 
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and-  any other 
receptors identified at (i) 

(iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial 
option(s). 
 

Reason: 

 

To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land 

contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled 

waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper 

assessment, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

8. No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring 

the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing any 

unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural 

and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to and agreed in 

writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works 

to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and 

site management procedures. The measures proposed within the 

remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed 

programme of works. 

 

Tudalen41



Reason: 

 

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 

and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 

waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 

can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 

and other offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and 

EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

9. As part of the first reserved matters application a car parking scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

scheme shall provide a car parking layout for the entire development, provide 

the Use Class and floor space of each unit, identify what spaces are 

designated for each unit and provide details of cycle provision. The scheme 

and shall ensure parking that provided in accordance with the Neath Port 

Talbot Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016). All 

Parking on site shall be provided and marked out in accordance with the 

agreed scheme prior to the first beneficial use of the development and retained 

for such use thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of highway safety and to ensure the development complies 

with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Plan. 

 

10. Prior to commencement of development a Traffic Management Scheme in 

the form of a Traffic Regulation Order to prevent vehicular obstruction at the 

site entrance shall be submitted to and approved in writing by Local Planning 

Authority. The scheme as approved shall be implemented on site prior to the 

occupation of any unit or office. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance 

with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

11. As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing a 7.3 

metre wide carriageway with footways and a combined 3m wide 

pedestrian/cycle route shall be provided along with the following: 

 

a) Longitudinal sections showing a gradient of not more than 1 in 12 or less 

than 1 in 150; 

Tudalen42



 

b) Cross sections every 20 metres, and/or where any culvert outfalls, 

headwalls are located; 

c) Highway Drainage (including gullies, gully leaders, manholes, pipe sizes 

and gradients); 

d) Highway Construction details; 

e) Highway Retaining Walls (if any), along with full structural and design 

calculations. 

 

No Unit or office shall be occupied until the scheme has been fully completed 

on site in accordance with the approved details, and retained as such 

thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance 

with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

12 As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme detailing the 

relocation of the existing 7.5tonne weight restriction along the B4290 to 

facilitate access into the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the local Planning Authority. The scheme as agreed shall be implemented prior 

to any development taking place and retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

There is currently 7.5tonne weight restriction which will have to be relocated 

to accommodate HGVs travelling to and from the site, and in the interest of 

highway safety and to ensure the development complies with Policy TR2 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Plan. 

 

13 As part of the first reserved matters application, a street lighting scheme shall 

be submitted to and agreed in writing by the LPA. The approved lighting 

scheme shall be implemented on site prior to the first beneficial use of the 

development and retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of providing adequate street lighting, ensure no unacceptable 

impacts upon amenity and biodiversity and highway and pedestrian safety 

and to ensure the development complies with Policy EN8 TR2 of the Neath 

Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

Tudalen43



14 As part of the first reserved matters application, a Waste Management Plan 

for the control, management, storage and disposal of any waste material 

generated by the development (during construction and operation) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All 

waste shall be treated in accordance with the agreed waste plan. The plan 

shall be implemented as approved. 

 

Reason: 

 

To ensure the appropriate disposal of any waste arising from the 

development in terms of protection of the environment and to ensure the 

sustainability principles are adopted during development and complies with 

Policy W3 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

15 As part of the first reserved matters application an Energy Assessment which 

shall include, but not be limited to proposed methods of energy production 

and generation, including renewable energy, together with passive methods 

to be implemented to achieve energy reduction shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 

thereafter be operated in accordance with the scheme as approved. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of sustainability and to comply with the requirements of Policy 

RE2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

16 As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the 

provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points to serve the development. The 

scheme shall include a minimum of 10% of the overall spaces and shall also 

include details how future electric charging points can be delivered. The 

scheme as agreed shall be fully implemented prior to the first beneficial use 

of the development and shall be retained for such use thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance 

with Planning Policy Wales 11, and policies BE1 and TR1 of the Neath Port 

Talbot Local Development Plan 

 

17 As part of the first reserved matters application a scheme providing details of 

soft landscape works (including pond area) shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Soft landscape works 

shall include: planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and 

Tudalen44



other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules 

of plants/trees noting species, plant/tree supply sizes and proposed 

numbers/densities where appropriate; an implementation programme 

(including phasing of work where relevant). The landscaping works shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details in accordance with the 

agreed implementation program. Any trees or plants which within a period of 

5 years from the completion of the development die are removed or become 

seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 

with others of similar size and species 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the 

visual amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the landscape 

and habitats through the protection, creation and enhancement of links 

between sites and their protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity 

value, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

18 No development shall commence until a scheme for the soundproofing of the 

buildings identified in Figure 4 of the Acoustic Consultants Limited, Noise 

Impact Assessment, B1, B2b, B8 Development, Jersey Marine, Swansea, 

Reference 8180/RD dated March 2020 has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures shall be 

implemented in strict accordance with the approved details prior to the 

occupation of the development and shall be retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

To protect the amenity of nearby residential properties and in accordance with 

policy EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026). 

 

19 Notwithstanding the indicative plan, as part of the first reserved matters 

application details of the proposed siting, design and finish of all proposed 

means of enclosure to all property boundaries shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The means of 

enclosure shall be erected in accordance with the approved details prior to 

the occupation of the proposed development and retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

Tudalen45



20 As part of the first reserved matters application details of proposed ground 

levels and finished floor levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details and retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

21 No development shall commence until a foul drainage scheme for the site 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

The scheme shall provide for the disposal of foul water. Thereafter the 

scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 

to the occupation of the development and no further foul water shall be 

allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system 

 

Reason: 

 

To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect 

the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or 

detriment to the environment and ensure the development complies with 

Policy SP16 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

22 Notwithstanding the submitted indicative layout and parameters, as part of 

the first reserved matters application a scheme shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme, which may 

include 3d modelling shall ensure that sufficient information and drawings are 

submitted to demonstrate that the safety clearances of any building, roads, 

landscaping, plant and machinery equipment etc. set out within EN 43 - 8 

Technical Specification for "overhead line clearances Issue 3 (2004) are 

provided. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details and retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

To ensure the development complies with the statutory safety distances set 

out within EN 43 - 8 Technical Specification for "overhead line clearances 

Issue 3 (2004) in National Grids letter 12/12/2019. In addition, to ensure 

compliance 

with EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local development Plan. 

 

23 No development shall take place, nor any demolition works or site clearance, 

until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Tudalen46



Planning Authority details of a scheme for the protection of trees shown to be 

retained in the tree survey report by RTAC dated June 2020. The approved 

scheme shall be carried throughout the course of the development. 

 

Reason: 

 

To ensure all existing trees are protected throughout the construction of the 

development, in the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the 

development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot 

Local Development Plan. 

 

24 As part of the first reserved matters application, a scheme shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing intrusive 

site investigations for the mine entries and shallow coal workings which shall 

include the following: 

 

a) The undertaking of an appropriate scheme of intrusive site investigations; 

b) The submission of a report of findings arising from the intrusive site 

investigations; 

c) The submission of a scheme of remedial works for approval; and 

d) Implementation of those remedial works. 

 

The scheme as approved, including any remedial works identified by the site 

investigations shall be undertaken prior to the construction of the 

development and retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of coal mining legacy on the site, which is located within a High 

Risk Area, in accordance with Policy EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 

Development Plan. 

 

25 As part of the First reserved matters application a scheme detailing a staff 

outdoor amenity spaces shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide an area for future staff to 

be able to sit outdoors, the size of this area will be based upon the 

requirements set out within Policy OS1 and the open Space and greenspace 

SPG (July 2017). The scheme as agreed shall be impended prior to the first 

beneficial use of the development and retained as such thereafter 

 

Reason: 

 

Tudalen47



In the interests of health and well-being of future staff and to ensure the 

development complies with Policy OS1 of the Neath Port Talbot local 

Development Plan. 

 

26 Notwithstanding the submitted plans, as part of the first reserved matters 

application, a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority detailing the siting, design, finish of the bin storage 

areas. The bin stores as agreed shall be provided in accordance with the 

approved scheme prior to the first beneficial use of the development and 

retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of visual amenity, residential amenity and to ensure adequate 

bin storage is provided for future residents and to ensure compliance with 

Policy BE1 and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 

 

27 No development shall take place until a scheme to provide artificial nesting 

sites for birds has been be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority. The scheme shall include detail and locations of bird 

nesting boxes to new build elements or at other appropriate locations around 

the site. All approved artificial nesting sites shall be implemented in 

accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of each 

building to which it relates. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of Biodiversity and mitigation for the loss of habitat within the 

site and to accord with Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 

Development Plan. 

 

Action Conditions 

 

28 Prior to the beneficial use of any unit within the development hereby 

permitted an Operational Noise Management Plan for that use shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

Noise Management Plan should include as a minimum: 

 

a) Details of the business activity to be conducted. 

b) Hours of operation. 

c) Details of delivery schedules including times, days and delivery vehicle size. 

d) Identification of any noise generating activities associated with that 

business. 

Tudalen48



e) Location and specification, including noise rating, of any plant and 

machinery to be installed. 

f) Details of any mitigating actions to reduce noise. 

g) Details of any due diligence to ensure that noise impact is continuously 

monitored. 

The approved Noise Management Plan shall be fully implemented for the 

duration of the use of the site and reviewed upon any change of activity or 

occupant. 

 

Reason: 

 

To protect the amenity of nearby residential and commercial properties and 

in accordance with policy EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 

Plan (2011-2026). 

 

29 Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a 

verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed 

remediation works carried out in accordance with condition 8 shall have been 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: 

 

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 

and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 

waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 

can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 

and other offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and 

EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

30 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified, work on site shall 

cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning 

Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where 

necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with 

the following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers 

(WLGA, WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and 

agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the 

development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of 

the agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the 

Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: 

 

Tudalen49



To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 

and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 

waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 

can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 

and other off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 

and EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan 

 

31 On receipt of a justified complaint, following a written request from the LPA 

the applicant shall undertake an assessment of the noise arising from the 

operations on the site and submit to the Local Planning Authority a written 

report detailing the findings of the assessment within two weeks of such a 

request being made (or other such date that may be agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority). The noise assessment shall be undertaken by a 

competent and suitably qualified acoustic consultant; the acoustic consultant 

shall be a member of the Association of Noise Consultants (ANC) and a 

member of the Institute of Acoustics. Prior to undertaking the noise 

assessment for the purpose of preparation of the report, the consultant shall 

contact the Local Planning Authority and shall agree a methodology and 

most appropriate standards. Following the noise assessment, a copy of the 

report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority along with evidence that the control measures recommended within 

the report are implemented and maintained thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or 

working nearby, and to ensure accordance with Policies BE1 and EN8 of the 

adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026). 

 

32 Prior to the first occupation of any unit hereby approved, a landscape 

management plan, including the long term design objectives, management 

responsibilities and maintenance schedules, for all landscaped areas 

including the pond, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be 

implemented and adhered to in accordance with the approved details 

thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term management 

and maintenance of all landscaped areas within the site and to ensure the 

development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot 

Local Development Plan 

 

Tudalen50



33 Notwithstanding the submitted information, prior to their use in the 

construction of the development hereby permitted, details and samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved details. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the 

development complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 

Development Plan. 

 

34 Prior to the installation of any permanent external lighting on the site, a 

detailed lighting scheme for the site shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the location of all proposed 

lights, the specification, intensity of illumination, predicted lighting contours 

(lux plots), together with proposed hours of operation and any mitigation 

measures required (including measures to reduce as far as practicable light 

spillage onto the adjoining properties) . The approved lighting shall be 

implemented on site in accordance with the approved scheme only, and 

retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of amenity and to prevent any unacceptable light spillage, and 

to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port 

Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

35 Prior to the installation of any CCTV cameras on the site, a detailed scheme 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

detailing the location of all cameras indicating their field of view. The scheme 

shall ensure no residential property is adversely affected by camera 

positions. The approved camera locations shall be implemented on site in 

accordance with the approved scheme, and retained as such thereafter 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of residential amenity and to prevent any unacceptable 

overlooking and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

Tudalen51



36 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development hereby approved, a Flood 

Warning Scheme shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide the following: 

 

a) Details of Flood emergency plan/procedure during an extreme flood event 

b) Details of escape/evacuation routes 

c) Details of flood warning signs and their locations within the store and car 

park 

d) Confirmation that the development registered with NRW flood warning 

service.  

 

The approved scheme shall be fully implemented on site prior to the 

first beneficial use of the store and retained thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of the staff and users of the site as it is partly located within a 

C2 Flood Zone and to comply with the requirements of Policy BE1 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

Regulatory Conditions 

 

37 The noise rating level emitted from the development shall not exceed the 

Operational Noise Limits in Table 5 of the Acoustic Consultants Limited, 

Noise Impact Assessment, B1, B2b, B8 Development, Jersey Marine, 

Swansea, Reference 8180/RD dated March 2020. The noise levels shall be 

determined at the nearest noise-sensitive premises (dwelling or hotel) or at 

another location that is deemed suitable by the Local Planning Authority. 

Measurements and assessments shall be made in accordance with BS 

4142:2014 Method for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

 

Reason: 

 

To protect the amenity of nearby residential and commercial properties and 

in accordance with policy EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 

Plan (2011-2026). 

 

38 No industrial activity of any kind, except loading and unloading, shall take 

place outside the proposed buildings or any external areas within the curtilage 

of the site. 

 

Reason: 

 

Tudalen52



To protect the amenity of nearby residential properties as no external fixed 

plant included is included the noise prediction and to accordance with policy 

EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026). 

 

39  No deliveries by Heavy Goods Vehicles (vehicles over 3500kg maximum 

gross weight) shall be made to the approved uses outside of the hours 

07:00hrs and 19:00hrs. All deliveries outside of these hours should be 

arranged in accordance with Department for Transport document "Quiet 

Deliveries Good Practice Guidance - Key Principles and Processes for 

Retailers". 

 

Reason: 

 

To protect the amenity of nearby residential properties and in accordance with 

policy EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026). 

 

40  No units within the curtilage of the site shall operate on the premises outside 

the following hours, 07.00hrs - 19.00hrs Mondays - Saturdays and not at all 

on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

 

Reason: 

 

To protect the amenity of nearby residential properties and in accordance 

with policy EN8 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011- 

2026). 

 

41  There shall be no outside storage of bins, equipment, waste, materials etc. 

except within the designated bin storage areas. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026). 

 

42  Should any springs or ground water seepage be encountered the onsite 

works in that area shall cease until a scheme for collection and disposal of 

the water has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. No ground water shall be discharged into the proposed 

drainage scheme. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of the health and safety of residents and to ensure no pollution 

or detriment to the environment and to and ensure the development complies 

Tudalen53



with Policy SP16 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

43  There must be no interference, alteration or diversion of any ditch, 

watercourse, stream or culvert crossing or bordering the site. 

 

Reason: 

 

To ensure there is no adverse interference, alteration or diversion of any 

ditch, watercourse, stream or culvert crossing or bordering the site in the 

interest of the health and safety of residents and to ensure no pollution or 

detriment to the environment and to and ensure the development complies 

with Policy SP16 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

44  Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 8 of Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 

amended for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with 

or without modification) no development specified within classes A to E shall 

be installed on the site without the prior grant of planning permission in that 

behalf. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interests overhead lines and in the interest of local amenity, and to 

ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port 

Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

45  Notwithstanding condition 50, the premises shall be used for use Class B1, B2 

and B8 as defined by the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 

1987 (or in any provision equivalent to that class in materials any statutory 

instrument revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification). 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of clarity and to ensure other changes of use can be assessed 

in the interests of amenity and to accord with Policies SC1, EN8, BE1 and 

TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

46 The landscaping buffer zones between the development and the Towers 

Hotel, shown on drawing 19/794/20, shall be retained as landscaped areas 

and used for no other purpose. 

 

Reason: 

 

Tudalen54



In the interest of clarity, Biodiversity, visual amenity, and amenity and to 

ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath 

Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

47 All works to trees shall be undertaken in accordance with the 

recommendations set out within the Tree Survey report by RTAC dated June 

2020. 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of clarity, biodiversity and of visual amenity, and to ensure the 

development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot 

Local Development Plan 

 

48 Development shall be operated in accordance with the travel management 

Plan by Local Transport Projects dated October 2019 and copies of the travel 

plan provided to all occupiers of any unit upon occupation. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the interest of highways Active travel and reducing car use to site and to 

accord with policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot local Development Plan 

 

49  Any gates fronting onto the highway shall be of a type which open inwards 

only, can be seen through and maintained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: 

 

In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance 

with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

50 Premises located on the Eastern boundary adjacent to the Towers hotel (units 
5 to 9 as shown on illustrative plan 19/794/02B) shall be used for use Class 
B1 (a) offices, (b) research and development and (c) for any industrial process 
which can be carried out in any residential area without causing detriment to 
the amenity of the area, as defined by the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (or in any provision equivalent to that class in materials 
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification). 
 
Reason:  
 
In the interest of clarity and to ensure other changes of use can be assessed 
in the interests of amenity and to accord with Policies SC1, EN8, BE1 and TR2 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

Tudalen55



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



 

 

SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 

 

Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 
 

APPLICATION NO: P2021/1206 DATE: 14/12/2021 

PROPOSAL: Two-storey detached dwelling with parking and associated 
works 

LOCATION: Plot 1 Glannant Place, Cwmgwrach 

APPLICANT: Mr Johnson 

TYPE: Full 

WARD: Blaengwrach 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

This application is brought before the Planning Committee as a material departure 

from the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

SITE AND CONTEXT 

 

The application site is located on land at Plot 1 Glannant Place, Cwmgwrach, which is 

located on the corner of Glannant Place and Heol Y Graig. 

 

The application site measures approximately 0.0384 hectares in area and is currently 

vacant land classed as ‘brownfield’ as it has been partly excavated. The site is sloping 

in profile from the south to the north side, but is relatively flat from east to west.  

 

The site is bounded by open land to the west, residential dwellings to the north, and 

public highway to the east and south. It should be noted that this site was previously 

granted planning permission for residential development (ref. P2005/0199) – whilst the 

two dwellings to the north were constructed, this plot (and the land behind) were never 

developed. Subsequently, the site was excluded from the current settlement limits, as 

defined by Policy SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 

 

The application seeks full planning application for the construction of a two-storey 

detached dwelling with parking and associated works. 

 

The proposed dwelling would measure approximately 10.42m in length, 10.3m in 

depth and would reach a height of 8.4m to ridge-level. The dwelling is designed with 

a gable-ended ridged roof with projecting gable to the front elevation. It is proposed to 

be finished with cream facing brick with rendered gable feature and roof tiles, with 

solar panels to the rear roof plane. Windows and doors are proposed on all four 

elevations.  

Tudalen57

Eitem yr Agenda6



 

 

Externally, three car parking spaces are proposed to the front driveway, with a 

retaining wall proposed to the southern side of the dwelling measuring up to 

approximately 2.6m in height. 

 

All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the 

Council’s online register. 

 

NEGOTIATIONS 

 

Not Applicable. 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 

The application site has the following relevant planning history: 

 

P2005/0199 4 No. Residential Dwellings. Approved 23/02/06. 

P2006/1043 

 

Agree Cond. 3 (External Materials) of P2005/0199. Approved 

13/10/06. 

P2006/1047 

 

Agree Cond. 14 (Contaminated Land) of P2005/0199. Approved 

23/01/07. 

P2006/1046 

 

Agree Cond. 5 (Means of Enclosure) of P2005/0199. Approved 

20/12/06. 

 
P2006/1271 

 

Agree Cond. 4 (Drainage) of P2005/0199. Approved 22/11/06. 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

Blaengwrach Community Council: No reply, therefore no observations to make. 

 

Head of Engineering & Transport (Highways): No objection, subject to conditions. 

 

Head of Engineering & Transport (Drainage): No objection. 

 

Biodiversity Unit: No objection. 

 

Welsh Water: No objection, subject to conditions. 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

 

The neighbouring properties were consulted on 14th December 2021 and a site notice 

displayed on 21st December 2021. 

 

Tudalen58

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2021/1206


 

 

The application was also advertised in the press as a ‘departure’ on 17th December 

2021 and to date, no response or representations have been received. 

 

REPORT 

 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council 

to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable 

development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration 

of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 

2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to 

ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs. 

 

National Planning Policy 

 

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) was revised and restructured in February 2021 to 

coincide with publication of, and take into account the policies, themes and 

approaches set out in, Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 and to deliver the vision 

for Wales that is set out therein.  

 

Future Wales now forms part of the Development Plan for all parts of Wales,  

comprising a strategy for addressing key national priorities through the planning 

system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 

decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving 

the health and well-being of our communities. All Development Management 

decisions, strategic and local development plans, planning appeals and all other work 

directed by the development plan need to accord with Future Wales.  

 

The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes 

towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) 

Act 2015 and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

PPW11 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as 

overarching themes and embodies a placemaking approach throughout, with the aim 

of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising Places and 

Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system as one of the main 

tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking principles are a tool to 

achieving this through both plan making and the decision making process. 

 

PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of 

which the following are of relevance: 

 

 Technical Advice Note 12: Design  
 

 

Tudalen59

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


 

 

Local Planning Policies 

 

The Local Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 

Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the following 

policies are of relevance: 

 

Strategic Policies: 

 

 Policy SP3  Sustainable Communities 

 Policy SP6  Development in the Valleys Strategy Area 

 Policy SP14  The Countryside and the Undeveloped Coast 

 Policy SP15 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 

 Policy SP21  Built Environment and Historic Heritage 
 

Topic Based Policies: 

 

 Policy SC1 Settlement Limits 

 Policy EN2  Special Landscape Areas 

 Policy M1  Development in Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development 

 Policy BE1  Design 
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance: 

 

The following SPG is of relevance to this application: 

 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Design (July 2017) 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018) 
 

Issues 

 

Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to 

the principle of development, together with the impact on the visual amenity of the 

area, the amenities of neighbouring residents, and highway safety. 

 

Principle of Development 

 

As the application site is located outside the settlement limits defined by Policy SC1 

of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (LDP), there would 

ordinarily be a presumption against the principle of a residential development at this 

location – i.e. in order to protect the open countryside from inappropriate development.  

 

Notwithstanding this however, it is noted that this site is unusual in that it is surrounded 

by the settlement limit of Cwmgwrach on three sides (north, south and east). 

Furthermore, it is noted from the planning history that this site was previously granted 

Tudalen60

https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=37
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=48
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=70
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=72
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=70
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=77
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9003/spg_biodiversity_geodiversity_may18.pdf


 

 

planning permission for residential development but was never completed (and would 

now be considered lapsed). In light of this, the development now proposed would be 

considered ‘in-fill’ development.  

 

It should be noted that on a similar application for ‘in-fill’ development, which was also 

a departure to the LDP, reference and consideration was given to a relevant appeal 

(APP/3154507 for 4 dwellings on land off The Mews, Lydiard Millicent, Swindon SN5 

3NR). Within this appeal, reference is given to the Inspector’s decision in formulating 

test criteria. These are detailed as follows: 

 

 Does the site form a gap in another wise built up frontage? 

 Does the proposal respect the existing settlement pattern? 

 Does the proposal elongate the existing settlement pattern? 

 Does the proposal extend the development into a sensitive landscape 
area? 

 Does the proposal consolidate loose knit areas of development? 
 

Whilst these are not definitive ‘tests’, they are a good starting point for assessment, 

and are explored further below. 

 

Existing Settlement Pattern – the existing settlement pattern consists of residential 

development along and either side of Glannant Place, and along the southern side of 

Heol Y Graig. Developing this site would in effect ‘join together’ the two parts of the 

settlement.  

 

Furthermore, given the fact that it would therefore be ‘in-fill’ development in line with 

that existing to the north, and would not result in encroachment, or elongation of the 

existing settlement, into the countryside to the west beyond that of the existing 

dwellings, it is considered acceptable on this basis. 

 

Sensitive Landscape Area – it is noted that the application site is located within the 

Vale of Neath Special Landscape Area (Policy EN2/3). Policy EN2 seeks to protect 

areas of high landscape quality, whereby development will only be permitted where it 

is demonstrated that there will be no significant adverse impacts on the features and 

characteristics for which the area has been designated. 

 

The supporting text to the policy states: ‘In the case of single buildings, generally these 

should be located within an existing building curtilage, farm complex or other group of 

buildings or immediately adjacent to a settlement limit wherever possible. In the case 

of groups of new buildings, these should be located adjacent to the settlement limit 

where appropriate, and the scale, form and design of the proposed development 

should conserve and where possible enhance the distinctive or characteristic features 

of the SLA’. 

 

Given that the application site is ‘brownfield’ land in that it has already been partly 

excavated, and that the proposal would result in the introduction of a single dwelling 

Tudalen61



 

 

immediately adjacent to the settlement limit, it is considered that the development 

would not result in any significant adverse impacts on the features and characteristics 

of the wider designated area. 

 

Consolidation of Loose-knit Area – given the fact that the site is bounded on three 

sides by existing residential development, it is considered that the proposed 

development would not result in the consolidation of loose-knit areas. Consequently, 

the proposal would comply with this test criterion. 

 

In respect of the principle of development therefore, it is considered that the proposal 

in this instance would be an acceptable ‘departure’ from the LDP. 

 

Turning to residential density levels, Policy BE1 stipulates that development proposals 

within the Valleys Strategy Area would normally be expected to achieve a minimum of 

30 dwellings per hectare. The density for this particular proposal equates to 

approximately 26 dph, and whilst this falls below the expected threshold, it is 

considered acceptable in this instance given site constraints associated with levels, 

topography and the necessary easements to underground site infrastructure (sewers). 

 

Impact on Visual Amenity 

 

It is noted that that the proposed dwelling would be sited within the general building-

line of the existing dwellings to the north. It is also noted that it would be set up higher 

than the existing dwelling to the north to follow the road level. Although it would have 

a gable-ended ridged roof and not a hipped roof like the existing dwellings to the north, 

it is noted that there are a mixture of roof designs and styles of dwellings along 

Glannant Place.  

 

Consequently, it is considered that the overall proposal would not have a detrimental 

impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area or street-scene, 

or the surrounding countryside/Special Landscape Area. Nevertheless, suitably 

worded conditions will be imposed on the application requiring details of the external 

materials to be submitted for approval, together with conditions restricting ‘permitted 

development’ rights for outbuildings and extensions – in the interest of visual amenity. 

 

Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

In respect of potential overlooking, it is noted that side-facing windows/doors are 

proposed on the northern and southern-facing elevations. However, as these serve 

non-habitable bathrooms, W/Cs or utility rooms, it is considered that they would not 

create any unacceptable overlooking issues. A suitably worded condition will 

nevertheless be imposed to ensure that the windows are fitted with obscure glazing.  

 

There would be no issues associated with the windows to the western (rear) elevation 

given that they overlook vacant land/countryside. In respect of the windows to the front 

(eastern) elevation, it is noted that there would be a separation distance of 

Tudalen62



 

 

approximately 15.4m to the property opposite (Number 17); and the windows would 

overlook the street-scene (Glannant Place) and side elevation of Number 17, which is 

angled away from the site with no windows in the main pine end facing the street (only 

the rear wing). Accordingly, it is considered that the proposed development would not 

create any unacceptable overlooking issues. 

 

With regards to potential overbearing and overshadowing, it is noted that the proposed 

dwelling would be set at a higher level than the neighbour (Number 10a) following the 

road level (which also steps up). Whilst the proposed dwelling would be set behind the 

rear building-line of Number 10a by approximately 2.3m, it would not breach the 45-

degree code. In addition, it is noted that there is one small window to the side of the 

neighbouring property (Number 10a), with the original floor plans for this property show 

it would serve a W/C. As this is non-habitable, it is therefore considered that the 

proposed dwelling would not have an unacceptable impact upon the neighbouring 

properties in terms of overbearing or overshadowing. 

 

Impact on Mineral Resource 

 

Given that the site lies outside of the defined settlement limit, the application site 

consequently is located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area under Policy M1 of the 

adopted LDP. Policy M1 seeks to safeguard mineral resources as they are finite and 

any development will need to meet criteria which ensure they are not sterilised or their 

extraction hindered. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, it is considered that the development, due to its scale and 

location, will not have a significant impact on the possible working of the mineral 

resource. Furthermore, given the site’s close proximity to the settlement limits, it is 

very unlikely that any mineral extraction would be acceptable in this location. 

Accordingly, there is no objection to the principle of development on mineral 

safeguarding grounds.  

 

Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 

 

The proposed development would provide three off-street car parking spaces 

accessed off Glannant Place. Accordingly, the Head of Engineering and Transport 

(Highways Section) has offered no objections to the development, subject to 

conditions as it is considered that there would be no detrimental impact upon highway 

or pedestrian safety. 

 

Biodiversity / Ecology 

 

Biodiversity enhancement is proposed as part of the development in the form of 

artificial bat roost boxes affixed to the gable-end of the dwelling. The Council’s 

Ecologist has therefore advised that they would have no objection to the proposal 

given that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of ecology. 

 

Tudalen63



 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with 

Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, 

in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with 

the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 

Development Plan comprises Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 and the Neath 

Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016. 

 

It is noted that the proposal would constitute a ‘departure’ from the Local Development 

Plan. Notwithstanding this however, as the site is surrounded by residential 

development on three sides it is considered that, in this particular instance, the 

development would be appropriate ‘in-fill’ development. In addition, it would not have 

a detrimental impact upon residential amenity or upon the character and appearance 

of the surrounding area/open countryside/Special Landscape Area, and there would 

be no adverse impact upon highway and pedestrian safety. Hence, the proposed 

development would be in accordance with Policies SC1, EN2, M1, TR2 and BE1 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.  

 

It is further considered that the decision complies with Future Wales – the National 

Plan 2040 and the Council’s well-being objectives and the sustainable development 

principle in accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015. 

 

RECOMMENDATION – Approval subject to conditions. 

Conditions 

Time Limit Conditions 

 1 The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this 

decision.  

 Reason:  

 To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 

List of Approved Plans 

 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents:  

 Dwg. No. 01. 

 Dwg. No. 02A. 

 Dwg. No. 03A. 

 Dwg. No. 04. 

Tudalen64



 

 

 Dwg. No. 05A. 

 Dwg. No. 06A. 

 Dwg. No. 07A. 

 Reason:  

 In the interests of clarity. 

Pre-Commencement Conditions 

 3 Prior to the commencement of any works on site a detailed scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the 

design of any retaining walls, including full structural calculations for any walls 

1.5m high together with detailed cross-sections. The approved retaining walls 

shall be fully implemented on site prior to the first beneficial occupation of the 

dwelling, and retained as such thereafter. 

 Reason: 

 In the interest of visual amenity, residential amenity of the neighbouring 

properties and land stability, and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 4 No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to 

throughout the construction period. The statement shall provide for:  

 a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

 b) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

 c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

 d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 

 e) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 

construction; and 

 f) the phasing of the retaining works and culvert diversion. 

 Reason:  

 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, the environment, and the 

amenity of residents, and to ensure accordance with Policies BE1 and TR2 of 

the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

 

Tudalen65



 

 

Action Conditions 

5 Prior to the occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, the three parking 

spaces, as detailed on Dwg. No. 7A, shall be provided on site, and the driveway 

shall measure 6.0 metres in length from back of footway to front of property by 

8.8 metres minimum width and they shall be positioned at least 2.5 metres to any 

boundary. The driveway shall be hard surfaced in block paving or asphalt, and 

shall be retained for parking use as such thereafter. 

 Reason:  

 In the interest of highway safety and to ensure the development complies with 

Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 6 Prior to first beneficial occupation of the dwelling hereby approved a vehicular 

footway crossing shall be provided across the driveway to Highway Authority 

specification, and retained as such thereafter. 

 Reason: 

 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to comply with Policy TR2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 7 Prior to the first beneficial occupation of the dwelling, the front forecourt boundary 

shall be set back 1.8 metres from kerb-line and the extra width shall be made up 

as footway construction to tie in with the existing footway fronting number 10a. 

The footway shall only be constructed to the front of the boundary, which shall 

be retained open and free for public use thereafter. 

 Reason: 

 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, and to comply with Policy TR2 

of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 8 Prior to their use in the construction of the development hereby permitted, details 

and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 

surfaces of the development shall have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: 

 In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development 

complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 9 Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to the first beneficial occupation 

of the dwelling hereby approved a scheme indicating the positions, height, 

design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected to all boundaries 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Tudalen66



 

 

The boundary treatment shall be completed, as approved, prior the first beneficial 

occupation of the dwelling, and retained as such thereafter. 

 Reason:   

 In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the 

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

10 Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development shall commence on the 

superstructure of the dwelling hereby until details of the finished floor levels have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason  

 In the interest of the amenities of the area and to ensure the development 

complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

11 Notwithstanding the details submitted, prior to the first beneficial use of the 

dwelling hereby approved, the windows on the side elevations serving the 

ground-floor W/C and first-floor en-suite and bathroom shall be fitted with 

obscured glazing, and any part of the windows that is less than 1.7m above the 

floor of the room in which it is installed shall be non-opening. The windows shall 

be permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 Reason 

 In the interest of the amenities of the adjoining property, and to ensure 

accordance with Policy BE1 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development 

Plan. 

12 Prior to the first beneficial occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted, artificial 

roosting boxes for bats, as detailed on Dwg. No. 1, shall be provided on site, and 

retained as such thereafter. 

 Reason 

 In the interest of Biodiversity, and to mitigate to loss of bird nesting/foraging 

habitats under the Habitats Regulations (amended 2012) and to accord with 

Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

13 The development hereby approved shall be connected to the mains sewerage 

system prior to the first beneficial occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, 

and retained as such thereafter. 

 Reason: 

 In the interest of satisfactory drainage of the site, and ensure the development 

complies with Policy SP16 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 

Plan. 

Tudalen67



 

 

14 Prior to the installation of the solar panels a detailed scheme shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the size, 

number and projection from the roof of the solar panels. The scheme shall be 

implemented on site as approved. 

 Reason: 

 In the interest of visual amenity and to comply with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port 

Talbot Local Development Plan. 

Regulatory Conditions 

15 No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or 

indirectly with the public sewerage network.  

 Reason:  

 To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 

health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to 

the environment, and to and ensure the development complies with Policy SP16 

and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

16 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order 

revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there shall be 

no extension or external alteration to any building forming part of the 

development hereby permitted without the prior grant of planning permission in 

that behalf.   

 Reason:  

 In order to safeguard the amenities of the area by enabling the Local Planning 

Authority to consider whether planning permission should be granted for 

extensions, having regard to the particular layout and design of the development 

and need to protect the amenity of nearby properties, and to accord with Policies 

BE1 and SC1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

17 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended 

for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 

modification), no buildings shall be erected other than those expressly authorised 

by this permission and identified on the approved drawings. 

 Reason:  

 In order to safeguard the amenities of the area by enabling the Local Planning 

Authority to consider whether planning permission should be granted for garages 

or outbuildings having regard to the particular layout and design of the 

development, residential amenity, and to accord with Policies BE1 and SC1 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

Tudalen68



 

 

18 Any gates provided across the access drive shall be of a type, which open inward 

only and can be seen through, and shall be retained as such thereafter. 

 Reason: 

 In the in interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with 

Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

 

                                                                                                      

 

 

Tudalen69



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 
DELEGATED APPLICATIONS  
DETERMINED BETWEEN 17TH JANUARY 2022 AND 6TH FEBRUARY 
2022 
 

App No:  P2021/0233 

Proposal: Details to be agreed in association with conditions 5 
(Revised Landscaping Scheme) and 6 (Landscape 
Management Plan) of application P2020/0403 granted 
on 22/06/2020. 

Location: Sinter Plant  Port Talbot Steelworks  Grange Road  
Margam  SA13 2NG   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Margam 

 

App No:  P2021/0797 

Proposal: Proposed construction of one pair of semi-detached 
houses and associated parking 

Location: Land South East Of  78 Main Road  Banwen  Neath     
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Onllwyn 

 

App No:  P2021/0831 

Proposal: Retention and completion of imported material to 
create a vehicular hardstanding and associated 
retaining wall, access and shed 

Location: Ty Blaidd   1E New Road  Cilfrew  SA10 8LL     
Decision: Refused 
Ward: Aberdulais 

 

App No:  P2021/0861 

Proposal: Lawful Development Certificate (existing) to confirm a 
commencement of works in accord with condition No. 1 
of Planning Permission P2005/0449 relating to a 
change of use to guest house accommodation 
including the construction of an extensions and the 
refurbishment of studios. 

Tudalen71

Eitem yr Agenda7



Location: Tyn-Y-Caeau  Margam Road  Margam  Port Talbot  
Neath Port Talbot   

Decision: Not Issue Certificate 
Ward: Margam 

 

App No:  P2021/0874 

Proposal: Installation of air source heat pump and associated 
works including pipework and cable tray 

Location: Land Adjacent To  Swn Yr Afon  Brynteg  Seven 
Sisters  Neath   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Seven Sisters 

 

App No:  P2021/0891 

Proposal: Discharge of condition 33 (relating to a scheme for 
surface water drainage arrangements) attached to 
planning permission P2014/0729 at Aberpergwm 
Colliery 

Location: Aberpergwm Colliery  B4242 From Rheola To 
Glynneath  Glynneath  Neath   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Glynneath 

 

App No:  P2021/0909 

Proposal: Non-material amendment to planning application 
P2019/5028 in respect of changes to the junction at 
drop-off bay, plus alterations to the wording of 
conditions 9 and 10 to enable the demolition of the 
building prior to the submission of the site investigation 
and remediation scheme 

Location: Cefn Saeson Comprehensive School  Afan Valley 
Road  Cimla  Neath     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Cimla 

 

App No:  P2021/0942 

Tudalen72



Proposal: Porch to front elevation, single storey rear extension, 
raising height of roof by 0.45 metres and installation of 
dormers to front and rear to facilitate the conversion of 
attic space to living accommodation. 
 

Location: 39 Ffynnon Dawel  Aberdulais  Neath  SA10 8EQ     
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Aberdulais 

 

App No:  P2021/1018 

Proposal: Single storey 2 bedroomed residential unit. 
Location: 130 New Road  Skewen  Neath  SA10 6HL   
Decision: Refused 
Ward: Coedffranc West 

 

App No:  P2021/1054 

Proposal: Proposed demolition of Dutch-barn to include 
conversion and extension of existing barn to create 
separate holiday accommodation 

Location: Cilmaengwyn Uchaf Farm   Maen Gwyn  Cilmaengwyn  
Pontardawe  SA8 4TX   

Decision: Approved 

Ward: Godre’r Graig 

 

App No:  P2021/1098 

Proposal: First floor side/rear extension. 
Location: The Sanctuary   81 Neath Road  Rhos  Pontardawe  

SA8 3EH   
Decision: Refused 
Ward: Rhos 

 

App No:  P2021/1122 

Proposal: Proposed subdivision of the former 'Next' ground floor 
retail unit to form an A1 or A2 use in unit 1 and A1, A2 
or A3 use in unit 2 

Location: 1-4 New Street  Neath  SA11 1RT     
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Neath North 

 

Tudalen73



App No:  P2021/1123 

Proposal: Erection of a single storey garage 
Location: 73 Parc Gilbertson  Rhydyfro  Pontardawe  SA8 4PT     
Decision: Refused 
Ward: Pontardawe 

 

App No:  P2021/1125 

Proposal: Proposed double storey side extension (north facing) to 
existing farmhouse with new basement area below, an 
orangery and small single storey extension to the rear 
(east facing), a lean to garden enclosure to the south 
facing elevation, new open porch to front elevation 
(west facing), removal of existing rear outbuilding and 
associated works. 

Location: Ynys-Y-Gwas Farm   Afan Valley Road  Cwmavon  
SA12 9AA     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Bryn And Cwmavon 

 

App No:  P2021/1141 

Proposal: Change of use from A1 display or retail sale of goods, 
other than hot food retail, to A3 sale of food and drink 
for consumption (mostly) on the premises. The A3 
restaurant and ancillary takeaway will have a new 
shopfront, new extraction flue to rear and a single 
storey rear extension. 

Location: Commercial Buildings - Unit 1 & 2  Talbot Road  Port 
Talbot  SA13 1DR     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Port Talbot 

 

App No:  P2021/1165 

Proposal: Proposed construction of an agricultural barn for 
storage of machinery and small workshop 

Location: Ynys-Y-Gwas Farm   Afan Valley Road  Cwmavon  
SA12 9AA     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Bryn And Cwmavon 

 

Tudalen74



App No:  P2021/1174 

Proposal: Two storey rear and side extension plus the widening 
of the driveway with associated retaining works and 
bay window to front elevation. 

Location: 69 Longford Road  Longford  Neath  SA10 7HE   
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Dyffryn 

 

App No:  P2021/1183 

Proposal: Retention of part of existing raised decking and partially 
enclose canopy including provision of new glazed 
balcony enclosure together with changes to remainder 
of decking to reduce its height and provide stepped 
access to a lower decked area. 

Location: 22 Uplands Road  Pontardawe  SA8 4AH       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Pontardawe 

 

App No:  P2021/1190 

Proposal: Details to be agreed in association with conditions 3 
(finished ground, floor and ridge levels), 5 (drainage 
strategy/scheme for the construction phase of the 
development), 9 (scheme indicating the positions, 
height, design, materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected to all boundaries) and 10 
(materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the development) of planning permission 
P2021/0935 granted on 3 November 2021 

Location: Land Adjacent To 134 Brookfield   Neath Abbey  Neath  
SA10 7EH     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Bryncoch South 

 

App No:  P2021/1216 

Proposal: Proposed two storey side/rear extension, single storey 
rear extension and reposition main side entrance door 
to front elevation of main dwelling house. 

Location: 44 Wern Road  Taibach  SA13 2BA       
Decision: Approved 

Tudalen75



Ward: Taibach 
 

App No:  P2021/1221 

Proposal: Part two storey/part first floor side/rear extension and 
single storey rear extension. 

Location: 1 Cedar Street  Cwmgwrach  Neath  SA11 5PF   
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Blaengwrach 

 

App No:  P2021/1228 

Proposal: Part single/part two storey side/rear extension, 
extended raised rear patio, front canopy, ramped front 
access and new bathroom window in first floor rear 
elevation of main dwelling. 

Location: 243 Western Avenue  Sandfields  SA12 7NF       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Sandfields West 

 

App No:  P2021/1230 

Proposal: Screening opinion request for sandstone extraction and 
completion of the restoration at Bwlch Ffos Quarry, 
Mynydd Resolfen, near Cwmgwrach. 

Location: Bwlch Ffos Quarry  Bwlch Ffos Access Road  
Cwmgwrach  Neath Port Talbot     

Decision: Not EIA Development 
Ward: Resolven 

 

App No:  P2021/1238 

Proposal: Change of use of car park area of Croeserw Social 
Club for siting of mobile catering trailer (Use Class A3) 

Location: Croeserw Social Club   Brynheulog Road  Croeserw  
Cymmer  SA13 3RS   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Cymmer 

 

App No:  P2021/1246 

Tudalen76



Proposal: Details to be agreed in association with Condition 3 
(screening) of planning application P2018/0441 granted 
on 06/07/18 

Location: Land At   Forest Lodge Lane  Cwmavon  SA13 2RX     
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Bryn And Cwmavon 

 

App No:  P2021/1250 

Proposal: Two storey rear extension. 
Location: 77 Margam Road  Taibach  SA13 2LB       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Taibach 

 

App No:  P2021/1256 

Proposal: Construction of a two storey extension to the rear of the 
property. 

Location: 106 Cae Morfa  Skewen  SA10 6EH       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Coedffranc West 

 

App No:  P2021/1259 

Proposal: Proposed external store within Ysgol Gymraeg 
Ystalyfera campus. Store for use by Ysgol Gymraeg 
Ystalyfera. 

Location: Ysgol Gymraeg Ystalyfera   Ynysydarren Road  
Ystalyfera  SA9 2DY     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Ystalyfera 

 

App No:  P2021/1262 

Proposal: Single storey rear extension 
Location: 22 School Road  Crynant  SA10 8NS       
Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Crynant 

 

App No:  P2022/0029 

Proposal: Single storey side/rear extension - Lawful Development 
Certificate Proposed 

Tudalen77



Location: 1 Lister Avenue  Aberavon  SA12 6YB       
Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Aberavon 

 

App No:  P2022/0030 

Proposal: Single storey side/rear extension - Lawful Development 
Certificate Proposed. 

Location: 15 Fairview Avenue  Aberavon  SA12 6YA       
Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Aberavon 

 

Tudalen78


	Agenda
	3 Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol
	5 Cais Rhif P2019/5560 - Tir gerllaw The Towers Hotel, Jersey Marine
	6 Cais Rhif P2021/1206 - Glannant Place, Cwmgwrach
	7 Penderfyniadau Dirprwyedig - 17 Ionawr i 6 Chwefror 2022

